# Tracing Your Ancestors in South Yorkshire











© Sheffield City Council, 2011.

Revised edition (originally published in 1991).

This is a joint publication produced by the Archives and Local Studies services in Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield.

v 1.0 (January 2011)

# Contents

Introduction	2
Abbreviations	3
Anglican Parish Registers	5
Nonconformist and Catholic Registers	39
Cemetery and Crematoria Registers	75
Monumental Inscriptions	87
Wills and Inventories	99
Directories	101
Electoral Registers and Poll Books	118
Other Sources: Census Returns, Births, Marriages and Deaths, Civil Parish Records, Court Records, Title Deeds, Military Records	123
Computing and Internet Facilities	126
Family History Societies	129
Contact Details - South Yorkshire	130
Contact Details - Other	131

### Introduction

This guide will enable family historians with South Yorkshire ancestors to discover just what genealogical sources are available and where they are to be found. For various historical and administrative reasons, South Yorkshire resources are not neatly concentrated in any one record repository and those in search of their South Yorkshire roots may have to visit record offices and libraries as far apart as York and Lichfield. For this reason the four archive and local studies services in South Yorkshire (Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield) have worked together to compile a single guide to the holdings of their offices and to genealogical source material held elsewhere. This Guide is a supplement to more detailed information available on each of the services websites.

The key genealogical resources are listed - church, chapel and cemetery registers, trade directories and probate records. Also included is a section on internet and other electronic sources. More information than ever before is being made available online, not only by the archives and local studies services themselves but also by popular genealogical websites such as Ancestry.com, FindMyPast and Genes Reunited, etc.

The addresses of the various record repositories and libraries whose holdings feature in this guide are shown at page 130. Researchers are advised to check days and times of opening, either by checking the relevant website or by telephoning / emailing the office concerned.

In addition to the information in this Guide the following national websites are worth consulting:

Genuki - an extensive website which contains detailed historical information about many places in the UK together with details of relevant libraries and archive centres www.genuki.org.uk

The ARCHON directory includes contact details for record repositories in the United Kingdom and also for institutions elsewhere in the world which have substantial collections of manuscripts noted under the indexes to the National Register of Archives <a href="https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/archon">www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/archon</a>

Access to Archives is part of the UK archives network. The A2A database contains many (but not all) catalogues describing archives held locally in England and Wales (including all of the South Yorkshire services) and dating from the eighth century to the present day <a href="https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/a2a">www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/a2a</a>

# **Abbreviations**

В	Barnsley, Metropolitan Borough of
BALS	Barnsley Archives & Local Studies (new)
BCL	Barnsley Central Library
вт	Bishops Transcripts
D	Doncaster, Metropolitan Borough of
DAD	Doncaster Archives Department
DCL	Doncaster Central Library
DLS	Doncaster Local Studies Library
ER	East Riding of Yorkshire
ERYA	East Riding of Yorkshire Archives Service
HAS	Hunter Archaeological Society
HCA	Hull City Archives
L	Lincolnshire
М	Microform (microfilm and microfiche)
NAO	Nottinghamshire Archives and Southwell Diocesan Record Office
NY	North Yorkshire
0	Original registers
Р	Photocopy
R	Rotherham, Metropolitan Borough of
RAL	Rotherham Archives & Local Studies Service
S	Sheffield, City of
SA	Sheffield Archives

RRI	Sheffield Central Library: Reference and Information Library
SLS	Sheffield Central Library: Local Studies Library
Т	Transcript
TNA	The National Archives
W	Diocese of Wakefield
www	Available on the world wide web
WYAS	West Yorkshire Archive Service
Υ	Diocese of York
YAS	Yorkshire Archaeological Society (formerly Yorkshire Parish Register Society)

## **Anglican Parish Registers**

While it is possible to trace one's ancestors back to 1837 using only civil registration records, anyone wishing to extend their family tree beyond that date will almost certainly need to consult parish registers. The history of parish registers and their use in genealogy has been well documented in a number of books (e.g. McLaughlin, Eve, *Parish Registers* (Federation of Family History Societies, 2000)) and there seems little point in doing other than give a brief outline here.

The registration of baptisms, marriages and burials (*not* births, marriages and deaths) was introduced in 1538. In 1597 the parish clergy were ordered to copy their existing registers into 'fair parchment books' but in many cases the copying only extended back to Queen Elizabeth's accession in 1558. Unfortunately many parishes have lost their early registers but it may be possible to fill the gap by consulting the Bishop's Transcripts. From 1598 each parish was required to send a copy of the previous year's entries to their bishop. Readers wanting a brief account of the history and contents of parish registers should consult *Parish Registers* by Eve McLaughlin (Federation of Family History Societies 1986).

As a result of the Parochial Registers and Records Measure of 1978, the great majority of registers have been deposited in Diocesan Record Offices [DRO].

The Diocese of Sheffield has two DROs. Sheffield Archives is the Diocesan Record Office for the Archdeaconry of Sheffield (which includes Rotherham). Doncaster Archives is the DRO for the Archdeaconry of Doncaster. These two repositories now hold the bulk of the original parish registers and other parish records for the Diocese of Sheffield.

Although the bulk of South Yorkshire falls within the Diocese of Sheffield, the boundaries of the two units do not coincide:-

- Sheffield Diocese includes a number of parishes on the south bank of the River Ouse in East and North Yorkshire. Their registers are deposited at Doncaster Archives.
- The north east corner of the county, including Barnsley and Penistone, falls within the Diocese of Wakefield. Parish records from this area are deposited at West Yorkshire Archives, Wakefield.
- In the south east of the county, the parishes of Austerfield, Bawtry and Finningley fall within the Diocese of Southwell and the registers are deposited at the Nottinghamshire Archives Office.

Until the 19<sup>th</sup> century, it was common for large parishes to have chapels-of-ease to serve outlying areas. These chapels often kept their own registers of baptisms and burials but marriages were usually still conducted at the mother church. In the 19<sup>th</sup> century most chapels of ease became parish churches in their own right. A large number of new parishes were created in the 19<sup>th</sup> century to serve areas of growing population. These often began as chapels of ease and were not licensed for marriages until they became parish churches. Entries which predate the building of the new church or its licensing for marriages should be sought in the registers of the mother church (e.g. entries for baptisms for a family living at Kimberworth before 1843 will be found in the Rotherham parish registers).

Many Victorian urban churches had no graveyard. Burials would normally take place in the municipal cemetery and be recorded in the cemetery register, not the church register. In some cases the church would keep a register of burial where the rector or vicar conducted a service and these burials will therefore be recorded in both registers.

Bishop's transcripts are frequently used by family historians to supplement parish registers and can often fill in gaps where the original registers are missing or illegible. The bishop's transcripts for the bulk of the parishes in South Yorkshire are among the York Diocesan Records held at the Borthwick Institute in York. They have been microfilmed and copies of the film are available locally in South Yorkshire. The transcripts for Austerfield, Bawtry and Finningley are held at Nottinghamshire Archives. A few parishes to the south of Sheffield were formerly in Derbyshire. Their bishop's transcripts are at the Lichfield Joint Record Office.

It has now become common for diocesan register offices to have their parish registers microfilmed and to make them available to readers only as microfilm or microfiche. This has made it possible for record repositories that are not DROs to obtain copies of the parish registers for their own area. There has also been much activity on the part of individuals and family history societies to provide transcripts of and indexes to parish registers.

The list that follows covers all the ecclesiastical parishes within South Yorkshire plus the East Yorkshire parishes within the Archdeaconry of Doncaster. It shows the original parish registers and microfilm, transcripts etc. held by the four archive services in the County as at August 2010. No attempt has been made to indicate gaps in runs of original registers.

Original registers dating after those shown in the list will still be held (at the time of going to press) by the parish church concerned.

Where a parish originated as a chapel-of ease or was formed out of another parish, the name of the mother parish is given in brackets.

The reference "O(M)" indicates that the repository holds the original registers but that the whole, or part of them, have been microfilmed and readers will normally be expected to consult the microfilm.

	Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
ARREYDA	<b>LE,</b> St John			[S]
SA	O(M)	1876-1996	1878-1992	- [5]
	LE, St Peter	1005 1000	1005 1001	[S]
SA	O(M)	1895-1966	1895-1981	-
ACKLAM r	ear MALTON			
SA	BT(M) 1626-1861			
	EET, All Saints	10011000	1004 1054	[ER]
DAD	0	1694-1892	1694-1951	1694-1972
DAD	M	1813-1998	1754-1951	1813-1972
SA	M	1681-1892	1694-1951	1694-1812
BALS	M	1694-1982	1694-1900	1694-1900
DAD	BT(M) 1600-1844			
ADWICK I	E STREET, St Lawrence			[D]
DAD	O	1547-1967	1547-1989	1547-1909
DAD		1813-1951	1754-1950	1813-1993
DLS/SA	M	1547-1867	1548-1837	1548-1812
SA	BT(M) 1601-1857	1011 1001	10.10.1001	10101012
	PON DEARNE, St John the			[D]
Baptist				
DAD	0	1690-1929	1690-1975	1690-1985
DAD	M	1813-1976	1754-1972	1813-1985
DAD / SA	BT(M) 1600-1841			
AIRMYN S	t David (Snaith)			[ER]
DAD	O O	1726-1999	1726-1981	1726-1979
DAD	M	1726-1992	1726-1961	1726-1976
BALS	M	1726-1900	1726-1837	1726-1889
DAD	BT(M) 1726-1874	1720 1000	1120 1001	1720 1000
ANSTON, S				[R]
SA	O(M)	1544-1967	1544-1977	1544-1954
SA	BT(M) 1598-1890	1		
RAL	M	1544-1612	1544-1612 &	1544-1612
		& 1669-	1669-1913	& 1673-
DAL	T+	1902	4554 4040	1923
RAL	T*	1550-1612	1551-1612	1544-1612
RAL	Т	c.1673- 1946	1669-1930	1673-1954
RAL	BT(M)(T) 1598-1674			
* copied fro	m an 1870 transcript of the early	registers which	are now illegible	
ADDALIDT	HODNE St Dout (Shoffield) and			
MANOR	HORNE, St Paul (Sheffield) see			
IVIAINOR		+		

Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
ARBOURTHORNE, St Leonard, Norfolk	[1968-	-	-
Park (Sheffield)	2002 in		
	the parish]		
ARDSLEY, Christ Church (Darfield)			[B]
DAD O	1839-1953	1842-1950	1843-1879
DAD M	1839-1953	1842-1950	1843-1951
SA/BALS/DAD BT(M) 1842-	1860		
BALS M	1839-1953	1842-1950	1843-1951
ARKSEY, All Saints			[D]
DAD O	1558-1961	1562-1974	1558-1897
DAD M	1813-1961	1754-1963	1813-1929
DAD/SA BT(M) 1602-1885			
SA M	1558-1920	1562-1837	1559-1929
BALS/DLS T 1557-1837			
ARMTHORPE, St Leonard and St Mary			[D]
DAD O	1653-1944	1653-1939	1654-1946
DAD M	1813-1951	1754-1951	1813-1951
DLS M	1653-1801	1653-1812	1653-1801
DAD/SA BT(M) 1599-1870	1000 1001	1000 1012	1000 1001
DADIGA BT(M)			
ASKERN, St Peter (Campsall)			[D]
DAD O	1852-1980	1853-1971	1852-1974
DAD M	1852-1956	1853-1951	1852-2000
SA BT(M) 1860-1864	1002 1000	1000 1001	1002 2000
D1(W) 1000 1001			
ASTON CUM AUGHTON, All Saints			[R]
SA O(M)	1567-2000	1560-1996	1558-1913
SA BT(M) 1602-1837,	1001		1000 1010
1863-1864			
SA T	1766-	1560-1824	1558-1812
	?1846		
SA T 1558-1765 (e	extracts)		
RAL M	1766-1904	1754-1910	1766-1913
ATHERSLEY, St Helen			
BALS M	1956 – 1961	1958 - 1972	
	1001	1958 – 1985	
		(Banns)	
ATTEROUSEE OF THE OF THE OTHER OF THE OTHER OF THE OTHER OTH	.1)		707
ATTERCLIFFE, Christ Church (Sheffield	(ג		[S]
(closed)			
(formerly Attercliffe (Hill Top) Chapel of			
Ease)	1710 1076	1940 1069	1724 1005
SA O(M) SA BT(M) 1819-1829	1719-1976	1849-1968	1734-1905
SA BT(M) 1819-1829 SA T	1693-1840	1693-1753	1734-1798
UM I	1093-1040	1093-1733	1734-1730

	Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
ATTERCI	IFFE, Emmanuel Church			[S]
(Sheffield)	•			[0]
SA	O(M)	1880-1940	1883-1940	-
	IFFE, St Alban, Darnall (Sheffield)			[S]
SA	0	1910-1973	1923-1942	-
ATTERCL	IFFE, St Bartholomew, Carbrook			[S]
(Sheffield)	·			
SA	O(M)	1874-1966	1891-1967	-
(Sheffield)	IFFE, St Clement, Newhall (closed)			[S]
SA	O	1886-1961	1914-1961	-
	-			
	IELD, St Helena (Blyth)	1=== 15==	4500 455	1 :
NA	O(M)	1559-1900	1560-1901	1577-1900
DAD	M	1559-2001	1559-1901	1559-1950
SA	M	1559-1900	1560-1900	1577-1900
YAS/BALS	/RRI/SA/DLS T 1559-1812			
BADSWO	RTH, St Mary			[W]
WYAS	0	1634-1976	1610-1970	1583-1969
SA	BT(M) 1600-1848			
BALS	T	1771-1837	1754-1839	
	t John (Doncaster)			[D]
DAD	0	1848-1966	1848-1984	1848-1917
DAD	M	1848-1950	1848-1950	1848-1999
SA	BT(M) 1848-1864			
BARNBUE	RGH, St Peter			[D]
DAD	0	1557-1962	1559-1983	1558-1981
DAD		1813-1962	1754-1968	1813-1990
DAD/SA	BT(M) 1600-1837	10.0.00		1010 1000
	DUN, St Peter and St Paul			[D]
DAD	0	1599-1954	1599-1975	1599-1940
DAD	M	1813-1954	1754-1953	1813-1950
DLS	M	1599-1754	1599-1754	1599-1754
DAD/SA	BT(M) 1599-1854	1776-1812	1776-1812	1776-1812
	- · (···)			
BARNSLE	Y, St Barnabas (Barnsley)			[B]
WYAS	O(M)	1959-1968	-	-
SA/BALS	M	1959-1968	-	-

	Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
BARNSLEY,	St Edward the Confessor			[B]
(Barnsley)				
	O(M)	1902-1945	1903-1976	-
SA/BALS	M	1902-1945	1903-1976	
			1903-1986 (bar	ins)
_				
	St George (Barnsley)			[B]
	O(M)	1832-1979	1832-1979	1832-1962
BALS	M	1832-1979	1832-1979	1832-1962
BARNSI FY	St John the Baptist (Barnsley)			[B]
	O(M)	1845-1968	1858-1968	
	M	1845-1968	1858-1968	_
		10101000		
BARNSLEY,	St Mary (Silkstone)			[B]
	O(M)	1568-1952	1569-1974	1568-1924
BALS	M	1568-1952	1569-1974	1568-1924
SA/BALS	BT(M) 1600-1831			
BALS	T 1558-1808		1800-1837	
SA	M	1568-1952	1569-1974	1568-1924
BARNSLEY,	St Paul (Barnsley)			[B]
WYAS	O(M)	1912-1938	1946-1975	-
SA/BALS	M	1912-1938	1946-1975	-
DADNOL EV	Ot Datas (Damalas)			ID1
	St Peter (Barnsley)	1002 1052	1004 1004	[B]
	O(M)	1893-1952	1894-1964	-
BALS	M	1893-1952	1894-1964 1924-1981 (bar	- \nc\
BASEGREEN	see GLEADLESS		1924-1901 (bai	1113)
DAGLGILLI	3CC OLLADELOG			
BAWTRY, St	Nicholas (Blyth)			[D]
	0	1653-1899	1653-1901	1654-1901
DAD/SA	M	1653-1899	1653-1901	1654-1902
<b>BEAUCHIEF</b>	ABBEY CHAPEL (extra-			[S]
parochial)				_
SA	0	1670-1955	1768-1932	1691-1973
BEIGHTON,	St Many			[S]
	O(M)	1654-1987	1654-2001	1653-1997
SA/RRI	T T	1004-1301	1653-1837	1000-1997
J, VIXIXI			1000 1007	
BENTLEY, S	t Peter (Arksey)			[D]
	0	1898-1967	1898-1958	-
	M	1898-1950	1898-1950	
	EW, St Philip and St James			[D]
DAD	O(M)	1914-1952	-	-

	Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
BOLSTERS1	FONE, St Mary (Bradfield)			[S]
SA	O(M)	1736-1914	1868-1972	1736-1856
SA	BT(M) 1778-1786, 1788-1871			
SA	T	1691-1813	-	1736-1814
BALS	T	1736-1775	-	-
	on DEARNE, St Andrew ry of Doncaster)			[B]
SA	,	1561-1978	1561-1971	1561-1986
DAD	O(M) M	1731-1951	1731-1950	1731-1938
DAD	T (index) 1561-1883	1731-1931	1731-1930	1731-1930
BALS	M 1301-1863	1561-1951	1561-1971	1561-1938
DALO	IVI	1301-1931	1754-1812	1301-1930
			(banns)	
DAD/BALS	Index 1561-1883		(bariris)	
SA/BALS/DA				
SA/DAD	T	1561-1900	1561-1899	1561-1899
SAVDAD	I	1301-1900	1001-1099	1301-1699
BRADFIELD	St Nicholas			[S]
SA	O(M)	1559-2004	1559-1999	1559-1985
SA	BT(M) 1600-1860	1559-2004	1559-1999	1339-1963
BALS/SLS				
	T 1569-1722 T	1550 1761	1550 1010	1550 1767
SA	<u> </u>	1559-1761	1559-1840	1559-1767
DD AITUMEI	I Ct lamas			[D]
DAD		1550 1004	1564-1991	<b>[D]</b>
DAD	O NA	1559-1994		
DAD/SA	M 1500 1067	1813-1994	1754-1951	1813-1994
RAL	BT(M) 1599-1867 M			1012 1000
				1813-1900
TAS/DALS/R	RI/SA/DLS T 1559-1837			
DDAMIEV (	Ct Francia (Bothorham)			[D]
DRAIVILE 1,	St Francis (Rotherham)	1932-2003	1950-1984	[R]
SA	0	1932-2003	1950-1964	-
SA	0			
RD A MOTON	BIERLOW, Christ Church			[D]
(Wath)	DILILOW, CHIISI CHUICH			נטן
DAD	0	1855-1945	1856-1940	1855-1892
DAD	M	1855-1952	1856-1952	1855-1956
RAL	M	1855-1901	1856-1900	1855-1892
IVAL	IVI	1000-1301	1000-1000	1000-1082
BRETTON N	MONK, St Paul (Royston)			[B]
WYAS	O	1839-1952	1841-1979	1839-1946
SA/BALS	BT(M) 1842	1003-1332	10+1-1313	1003-1340
BALS	M	1839-1968	1841-1992	1839-1925
D/ (LO	141	1009-1900	1855-1921 &	& 1946
			1966-1983	\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \
			(Banns)	
			(501110)	
BRIFRI FY	St Paul (Felkirk)			[D]
WYAS	O(M)	1896-1918	_	- [-]
	~\···/	1000 1010		1

Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
BALS M	1869-1918	-	-
BRIGHTSIDE, All Saints (Sheffield) (closed)			[S]
SA O(M)	1869-1977	1869-1979	-
BRIGHTSIDE, St Margaret (Sheffield)			[S]
SA O	1918-1978	1922-1975	-
BRIGHTSIDE, St Thomas (Sheffield)			[S]
(closed)	101010	10-110-0	10-110
SA O(M)	1846-1979	1854-1978	1854-1977
BALS T	-	-	1854-1901
DDINOWODTH O. A. I			
BRINSWORTH, St Andrew	54070 L t	54074 1 4	[R]
	[1972-date	[1974-date at	-
	at the	the church]	
	church]		
BRINSWORTH, St Faith see CATCLIFFE,			
St Mary			
PRINCWORTH St Coorgo (closed)			[R]
BRINSWORTH, St George (closed) SA O	1903-1972	1903-1971	1901-1978
SA U	1903-1972	1903-1971	1901-1976
BRODSWORTH, St Michael			[D]
	1538-1987	1520 1075	<b>[D]</b>
DAD O  DAD M	1813-1951	1538-1975	1813-1960
DAD/SA BT(M) 1600-1871	1013-1931	1754-1950	1013-1900
YAS/SA/SLS/RRI/DLS/BALS T	1539-1813	1539-1812	1539-1812
TAS/SA/SES/INI/DES/BAES	1339-1613	1339-1612	1339-1012
BROOMHALL (Sheffield)			
See BROOMHILL, St Mark and			
SHEFFIELD, St Silas, Gilcar			
DDOOMIII L Ct Mark (Chaffiald)			[0]
BROOMHILL, St Mark (Sheffield)	4000 4000	4074 4000*	[S]
SA O	1868-1968	1871-1988*	-
*For marriages 1941 – 1963 see			
RANMOOR, St John			
BURGHWALLIS, St Helen			[D]
DAD O	1596-1951	1596-1967	1596-1980
DAD M	1813-1951	1815-1967	1813-1980
DLS M	1693-1755	1693-1755	1693-1755
	1777-1814	1090-1700	1777-1810
RAL M	1596-1900		1813-1900
DAD/SA BT(M) 1600-1893	1000 1000		1010 1000
SA P	1813-1951	1815-1837	1813-1968
YAS/BALS/RRI/DLS T	1596-1814	1596-1814	1596-1810
TO DICEOTAGE I	1000 1014	1000 1014	1000 1010

Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
CADEBY, St John (see SPROTBROUGH)			[D]
CAMPSALL, St Mary Magdalene			[D]
DAD O	1563-1979	1564-1990	1563-1974
DAD M	1813-1951	1754-1952	1813-1974
DAD/SA BT(M) 1598-1879			
CANTLEY, St Wilfrid			[D]
DAD O	1539-1986	1540-1990	1538-1951
DAD M	1813-1952	1754-1960	1813-1951
	1013-1932	1754-1900	1013-1931
DAD/SA BT(M) 1600-1844 SA M	1813-1851	1813-1837	1813-1875
		1540-1812	
YAS/BALS/DLS T	1539-1812	1540-1812	1539-1812
CARROOK Of Death alease on (Oh afficial)			[0]
CARBROOK, St Bartholomew (Sheffield) (closed)			[S]
SA O(M)	1874-1966	1891-1967	-
SA O(M)	1674-1900	1091-1907	-
CARLTON, St John the Evangelist			[B]
(Royston)			"-"
WYAS O(M)	1881-1946	1882-1943	-
BALS M	1881-1966	1882-1958	-
		1002 1000	
CATCLIFFE, St Mary (formerly St Faith)			[R]
(Rotherham)			
SA O	[1972-date	1956-1986	1896-1958
	at church]		
CAWTHORNE, All Saints			[B]
WYAS O(M)	1653-1966	1654-1948	1653-1961
SA/BALS BT(M) 1600-1845			1
BALS M	1653-1966	1654-1948	1653-1961
-		1754-1954 (bar	
BALS T 1653-1837		\	,
CHAPELTOWN, St John (Ecclesfield)			[S]
SA O(M)	1857-1980	1860-2005	1860 -
, ,			1971
CLAYTON WEST – see HIGH HOYLAND			[B]
CLIFTON Foothward View Obwards Oald III			ID.
CLIFTON, Eastwood View Church, Oakhill (Rotherham)			[R]
(	[1973-date	1973-date at	-
	at church]	church]	
OUETON Of Issue (Bullette			FD?
CLIFTON, St James (Rotherham)	4004 4054	4007.4054	[R]
SA O	1921-1951	1937-1951	-

Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
OLIETON OLO : (Dath day)			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
CLIFTON, St Saviour (Rotherham)	1001 1017	1002 1072	[R]
SA O	1901-1947	1963-1972	-
CONANBY, St Andrew - see			[D]
CONISBROUGH			
CONISBROUGH, St Peter			[D]
DAD O	1559-1976	1559-1992	1555-1931
DAD M	1813-1956	1813-1951	1813-1931
DAD/SA BT(M) 1600-1844			
COWICK, Holy Trinity			[ER]
DAD O	1852-1893	1855-1964	1854-1893
DAD M	1852-1932	1855-1964	1854-1950
COWTHORPE, St Michael	1500 1500	1500 15-0	[Y]
SA T	1568-1797	1568-1753	1568-1797
BALS T	1568-1797	1568-1812	1568-1797
CDOOKEC Of The man (Chaffield)			[0]
CROOKES, St Thomas (Sheffield)	1040 1060	1057 1000	[S]
SA O	1840-1969	1857-1990	1841-1973
CROOKES, St Timothy (Sheffield)			[S]
CROOKES, St Timothy (Shemela)	[1908-at	[1912-date at	[5]
	the	the church]	
	church]		
CROOKESMOOR, St Nathanael (Sheffield)			[S]
(closed)			
SA O	1902-1978	1912-1979	-
CROSSPOOL, St Columba (Sheffield)			[S]
	[1947-date	1971-date at	-
	at the	the church]	
	church]		
CUDWORTH Ct John (Dougton)			[D]
CUDWORTH, St John (Royston) WYAS O(M)	1007 1067	1902 1070	[B]
WYAS O(M) BALS M	1887-1967 1887-1967	1893-1979 1893-1979	1895-1975 1895-1989
DALO IVI	1007-1907	1914-1991 (ba	
	+	1314-1331 (Da	11110)
CUMBERWORTH, (Silkstone)	+		[W]
SA BT(M) 1664-1840	+		[**]
BALS T	1664-1938	1664-1837	-
-	122.1330	1201.001	
DALTON, Holy Trinity			[R]
	[1849-date	[1850-date at	[1850-date
	at the	the church]	at the
	church		church]

Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
DARFIELD, All Saints			[B]
DAD O	1628-1970	1628-1983	1628-1921
DAD M	1813-1950	1754-1950	1813-1921
DAD T	1628-1854	1628-1850	1628-1846
DAD/SA/BALS BT(M) 1598-1871			
BALS T 1598-1812			
SA T 1598-1669			
BALS M	1813-1950	1754-1950	1813-1921
DARNALL, Church of Christ (replaced Holy Trinity)			[S]
	[1964-date at the church]	[1970-date at the church]	-
DARNALL Holy Trinity (Shoffield) (closed)			re1
DARNALL, Holy Trinity (Sheffield) (closed) SA O(M)	1841-1964	1845-1970	[ <b>S</b> ]
SA BT(M) 1844	1041-1904	1043-1970	1040-1000
SA T		1845-1888	
JA I	-	1043-1000	
DARNALL, St Alban (Sheffield )			[S]
SA O	1910-1973	1923-1942	- [0]
- C/T	1310 1373	1020 1042	
DARTON, St John			[B]
WYAS O(M)	1539-1913	1539-1923	1539-1924
SA/BALS BT(M) 1600-1842	1000 1010	1000 1020	1.000 1.021
SA M	1539-1812	1539-1753	1539-1812
BALS T 1539-1881	1000 1012	1999 1199	1 1 2 2 3 1 2 1 2
BALS M	1559-1975	1539-1994	1539-1972
		1840-1991 (ban	
			,
DEEPCAR, St John the Evangelist			[S]
SA O	1940-1990	1964-2000	-
DENABY, All Saints			[D]
DAD O	1891-1988	1900-1974	1900-1956
DAD M	1890-1951	1900-1951	1900-1956
IVI	1000 1001	1300 1301	1300 1300
<b>DENABY SCHOOL MISSION</b> (see MEXBO John)	DROUGH St		[D]
DAD O	1873-1874	-	-
<b>DINNINGTON</b> , St Leonard			[R]
SA O(M)	1730-1959	1730-1945	1730-1966
SA BT(M) 1600-1834			
RAL M	1813-1907	1813-1914	1815-1920
RAL BT(T) 1600-1729			
RAL T	1730-1946	1733-1924	1730-1941

	Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
DODWOR	ΓΗ, St John the Baptist			[B]
(Silkstone)				
WYAS	O(M)	1848-1983	1848-1973	1848-1934
SA/BALS	M	1848-1983	1848-1973	1848-1934
			1955-1966	
			(Banns)	
	<b>ER</b> , St Andrew (closed) (Doncast	ter, St		[D]
George)		1001 1000		
DAD DAD	<u>О</u> М	1891-1962 1891-1962	-	-
DAD	IVI	1091-1902	-	-
DONCAST	ER, Christ Church (closed) (Done	caster St		[D]
George)	ER, Chilist Charch (closed) (Done	Jasier, St		[D]
DAD	0	1846-1970	1848-1991	1847-1957
DAD	 M	1846-1950	1848-1951	1847-1958
DAD/SA	BT(M) 1830	10101000	1010101	1011 1000
	( )			+
DONCAST	ER, St George			[D]
DAD	0	1557-1936	1557-1936	1557-1855
DAD	M	1813-1951	1750-1954	1813-1869
DLS	M	1537-1822		1557-1826
DAD/SA	BT(M) 1600-1838			
SA	M	1557-1812	-	1557-1812
RRI/DLS	Т		1557-1837	
	ER, St James			[D]
DAD	0	1858-1972	1864-1979	-
DAD	M	1858-1951	1864-1955	-
DAD/SA	BT(M) 1858-1867			
DODE O	: OL			FO1
	rist Church (Sheffield)	1010 1000	4044 4070	[S]
SA	0	1813-1963	1844-1979	1829-1967
DUNCEDO	PFT, Christ Church (Hatfield)			[D]
DAD	O	1930-1985	1965-1992	[D]
DAD		1930-1949	1905-1992	_
D/\D	IVI	1330 1343		
EASTOFT.	St Bartholomew (Adlingfleet)			[H]
DAD	0	1855-1905	1856-1974	1855-1929
DAD	M	1855-1992	1856-1973	1855-1994
EASTWOO	DD, St Stephen (Rotherham)			[R]
(closed)				
SA	O(M)	1874-1991	1875-1991	-
RAL	M	1874-1911	1875-1906	
	LL, All Saints (Sheffield)	1701165	10101010	[S]
SA	O(M)	1784-1981	1849-1989	1789-1950
SA	BT(M) 1819-1828			

	Parisl	h	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
ECCLESAI	L, St Gabriel	(Sheffield)			[S]
	,		[1964-date at the church]	[1964-date at the church]	-
FCCI ESEI	ELD, St Mary				[S]
SA	O(M)		1599-1998	1558-1996	1558-1963
SA	BT(M)	1604-1835	1333-1330	1330-1330	1330-1303
SLS	T	1558-1619			
SA	Ť	1000 1010	1599-1761	1558-1840	1558-1603
O/ C			1000 1701	1000 1040	1000 1000
ECCLESFI Avenue	ELD, St Paul,	Wordsworth			[S]
SA	0		1949-1976	1959-1977	_
O/ (			1040 1070	1000 1077	
EDENTHO	RPE, Good S	hepherd			[D]
DAD	0		-	1979-1980	-
				1010100	
EDLINGTO	N, NEW. St J	ohn the Baptist (Edlir	ngton)		[D]
DAD	O		1911-1974	1939-1978	-
DAD	M		1911-1952	1939-1953	-
EDLINGTO	N, OLD, St P	eter (closed)			[D]
DAD	0	,	1731-1962	1731-1962	1731-1954
DAD	М		1813-1959	1754-1962	1813-1954
DAD/SA	BT(M)	1600-1842			
ELLESMER	RE, St Peter s	ee PITSMOOR			
ELSECAD	Holy Trinity				[B]
(Hoyland/W	,				[6]
SA SA	O(M)		1843-1963	1845-1971	1843-1931
SA/BALS	BT (M)	1843-1845	1010 1000	10101011	10101001
BALS	M	10101010	1843-1912	1845-1915	1843-1913
			10.10.10.1	10101010	101010
ENDCLIFF	E, St Augustir	ne (Sheffield)			[S]
SA	O		1899-1969	1899-1972	
FELKIRK,	St Peter				[B]
WYAS	O(M)		1701-1920	1706-1918	1706-1883
SA/BALS	BT (M)	1598-1834			
BALS	M		1701-1970	1706-1978 1823-1981 (Banns)	1706-1954
BALS	Т		1598-1837	1598-1837	1598-1812
SA	T		1701-1812	1706-1812	1706-1812
FENWICK,	St John (clos	ed)			[D]
DAD	O (M)		1852-1975	1856-1975	1871-1978
SA	BT(M)	1863-1864			

	Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
	PARK (Rotherham) see			
MASBROL	JGH and NORTHFIELD			
	EY, Holy Trinity and St Oswald			[D]
NAO	0	1557-1983	1557-1992	1557-1987
DAD	M	1557-1901	1557-1901	1557-1901
SA	M	1557-1900	1557-1900	1557-1900
FIRBECK,	St Martin			[R]
SA	O(M)	1721-1954	1721-1837	1721-1812
SA	BT(M) 1596-1836			-
RAL	T	1596-1954	1598-1984	1597-1984
FIRVALE,	St Cuthbert (Sheffield)			[S]
SA	0	1902-1981	1902-1983	-
FISHLAKE	, St Cuthbert			[D]
DAD	0	1561-1995	1561-1987	1561-1994
DAD	M	1813-1954	1754-1959	1813-1974
DAD/SA	BT(M) 1600-1883			
EDECHEV	III E Ct Cymrian			[6]
SA	ILLE, St Cyprian O	1940-1952	[10/1/ data at	[S]
SA		1940-1952	[1944-date at the church	-
FRICKI EV	with CLAYTON, All Saints			[D]
DAD	0	1577-1898	1577-1985	1577-1978
DAD		1813-2000	1754-1952	1813-1978
DAD/SA	BT(M) 1602-1870	1010 2000	1101100	10101010
YAS/BALS	\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \			
FULWOOI	D, Christ Church (Sheffield)			[S]
SA	O(M)	1838-1955	1851-1976	1839-1964
SA	BT(M) 1838-1842			
See also L	ODGE MOOR			
	St Thomas (Barnsley)			[B]
WYAS	O(M)	1849-1950	1857-1983	1852-1964
BALS	M	1849-1950	1857-1983	1852-1964
			1857-1973	
541.0	7 4057 4000		(banns)	
BALS	T 1857-1900		<del> </del>	
GILDINGV	VELLS see THROAPHAM AND			+
WOODSE				
GLEADLE	SS, Christ Church (Sheffield)			[S]
SA	O(M)	1839-1994	1881-1989	1839-1953
SA	BT(M) 1839-1868	1033-1334	1001-1909	1039-1933
<u> </u>	D1(W) 1039-1000			

	Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
GLEADLI	ESS, St Peter, Basegreen			[S]
(Sheffield	)			
SA	O	1955-1979	1955-1993	-
GI FADI I	ESS VALLEY, St John,			[S]
Hemswor				[0]
SA	0	[1960-date	1971-1979	_
		at church]		
SA	BT(M) 1601-1896	_		
<b>GLEADLI</b> Rolleston	ESS VALLEY, Holy Cross, e			[S]
SA	0	1963-1990	1965-1981	-
	ORPE, SS John and Mary Magda			[B]
DAD	0	1902-1998	1917-2006	-
DAD	M	1902-1951	1917-1947	-
BALS	M	1902-1951	1917-1947	
				_
	St John the Evangelist (Snaith)			[ER
DAD	0	1848-1959	1848-1965	1849-1923
DAD	M	1848-1950	1849-1951	1849-1913
St John				
	ROUGH, St Mary (Rotherham)	17.17.10.10	10101070	[R]
SA	O(M)	1747-1942	1849-1973	1747-1917
SA	BT(M) 1768-1848	1747-1904	1010 1007	4747 4047
RAL RAL	<u>M</u> M	1813-1904	1849-1907 1849-1907	1747-1917 1813-1917
RAL	P	1764-1789	1049-1907	1770-1788
RAL		1747-1899	1849-1899	1747-1899
1.7.1L	<u> </u>	17 17 1000	10 10 1000	1171 1009
GREENH	ILL, St Peter (Sheffield)			[S]
SA	0	1958-1975	1959-1985	-
GRENOS	IDE, St Mark (Ecclesfield)			[S]
SA	0	1900-1969	1911-1988	-
GRIMETH	HORPE, St Luke (Felkirk)			[B]
WYAS	O(M)	1901-1952	1912-1979	-
BALS	M	1901-1952	1904-1979	-
			1904-1981 (ba	inns)
114 617-7				
HACKEN (Beighton	THORPE, Christ Church )			[S]
SA	0	1899-1954	1961-1977	-

	Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
HANDSW	ORTH, St Mary			[S]
SA	O(M)	1558-1979	1558-1994	1558-1970
SA	BT(M) 1598-1874			
SA	T	1558-1857	1558-1837	1558-1845
HANDSWO WOODHO	ORTH WOODHOUSE see USE			
HARTHII I	., All Hallows	+		[R]
SA	O(M)	1587-1957	1587-1970	1587-1957
SA	BT(M) 1617-1864	1007 1007	1007 1070	1007 1007
SA	T	1586-1957	1586-1970	1586-1957
RAL	M	1587-1920	1587-1919	1587-1957
RAL	Ť	1587-1957	1587-1970	1587-1957
TEIEL B				
	O, St Lawrence	4507.4040	4500 4040	[D]
DAD	0	1567-1940	1566-1943	1566-1943
DAD	M	1813-1966	1754-1950	1813-1943
DAD/SA	BT(M) 1601-1876	4507.4044	4500 4040	4500 4040
SA	M	1567-1944	1566-1943	1566-1943
HATHERS	AGE, St Michael & All Angels			[Derbyshi re]
SA	Р	1813-1966	-	1813-1980
	Christ Church (Chaffield)			[6]
	Christ Church (Sheffield)	4040 4074	4040 4000	[S]
SA	O(M)	1848-1974	1848-1980	1848-1934
SA	BT(M) 1848	+		
HEMSWO VALLEY	RTH, St John see GLEADLESS			
HENSALI	with HECK, St Paul			[NR]
DAD	M	1854-1954	1856-1950	1854-1951
DAD	0	10011001	1857-1926 (ban	
			, i	
	THORPE, St Cuthbert (Whiston)			[R]
SA	0	1936-1979	1943-1988	-
HEXTHOR	PE, St Jude (Doncaster)	+	+	[D]
DAD	O(M)	1894-1964	1901-1954	-
_ = <b>=</b>	- \/			
	<b>DN</b> , St Wilfred			[D]
DAD	0	1694-1918	1695-2003	1694-1979
DAD	M	1813-1918	1755-1980	1813-1991
DAD/SA	BT(M) 1626-1863			
BALS/RRI/				
SA	T	1626-1812	1626-1753	1626-1812
HIGHFIFI	D, St Barnabas (Sheffield)	+	+	[S]
SA	O(M)	1876-1991	1877-1986	- [0]
	\ /			

	Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
HIGHEIEI I	<b>DS</b> , St George – see WOODLAND	OS All Saints		[D]
THOIH ILL	o, or decige — see WOODLAND	70, All Gairts		[0]
HIGH GRE	EN see MORTOMLEY			
THOIT OILE	LIN SEC MORTOMELT			
HIGH HOY	LAND - see HOYLAND, HIGH			[B]
HIGH MEL	FON, St James			[D]
DAD	0	1538-1980	1538-1987	1538-1980
DAD	M	1813-1982	1754-1976	1814-1980
DLS	M	1538-1812	1538-1812	1538-1812
SA	BT(M) 1600-1881			
SA	M	1538-1812	1538-1753	1538-1812
HILLSBOR	OUGH AND WADSLEY			[S]
BRIDGE, C	hrist Church (Sheffield)			
SA	0	1895-1972	1903-1976	-
				[S]
	OUGH BARRACKS CHAPEL			
see OWLER	RION			
HUUK C+ N	Mary (Snaith)			[ER]
DAD	O	1688-1997	1695-1999	1678-1998
DAD		1813-1952	1754-1952	1813-1951
DAD	BT(M) 1720-1841	1613-1952	1754-1952	1013-1951
27.0	21()			
HOOTON F	PAGNELL, All Saints			[D]
DAD	0	1538-1875	1569-1985	1569-1959
DAD	M	1813-1957	1755-1934	1813-1959
DAD/SA	BT(M) 1602-1858			
YAS/BALS/	RRI/SA/DLS T	1538-1812	1569-1811	1569-1812
	ROBERTS, St. John the Baptist			[R]
SA	0	1702-1944	1702-1954	1703-1977
SA	BT(M) 1600-1846			
RAL	M	1702-1944	1702-1954	1703-1977
RAL/DAD	Т	1702-1899	1702-1899	1703-1899
RAL/DAD	BT(M)(T) 1600-1698			
HOYLAND	, <b>HIGH</b> , All Hallows (inc CLAYTO)	N WEST, All		[B]
Saints)		_		_
WYAS	(M)	1720-1954	1720-1982	1720-1962
SA/BALS	BT(M) 1600-1858	1,	1-6-16-1	
BALS	M	1720-1954	1720-1982	1720-1962
DALC		4700 4074	1754-1950 (ba	nns)
BALS	T	1720-1954	1720-1837	
HUAI VND	(NETHER), St Andrew (Wath)			[B]
SA	O O St Andrew (Watti)	1916-1960	1916-1980	[D]
)	•	1010 1000	10101900	

Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
BALS M	1916-1960	1916-1980	-
HOW AND (NETHER) Of Datas (Marth)			(D)
HOYLAND (NETHER), St Peter (Wath) SA O(M)	1741-1944	1740-1977*	<b>[B]</b> 1743-1972
SA O(M) SA/BALS BT(M) 1748-1864	1741-1944	1740-1977	1743-1972
BALS M	1813-1944	1850-1977	1813-1972
BALS P	1741-1812	1740-1804	1743-1812
* For marriages 1804-1850 see Wath-on-	1741-1012	1740-1004	1743-1012
Dearne parish registers at Doncaster			
Archives, or use the bishop's transcripts at			
Sheffield Archives			
WWW 01 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1			
JUMP, St George (Darfield)	4000 4040	4004 4007	[D]
DAD O	1880-1919	1884-1987	-
DAD/BALS M	1880-1919	1884-1950	_
KILNHURST, St Thomas		+	[R]
(Rawmarsh/Swinton)			[1,7]
DAD O	1859-1974	1861-1991	1859-1969
DAD M	1859-1951	1861-1952	1859-1951
KIMBERWORTH, St Mark (Rotherham)			[R]
(closed)			
	-	-	-
KIMBERWORTH, St Thomas (Rotherham)			[R]
SA O(M)	1843-1974	1853-1984	1843-1979
RAL M	1843-1902	1853-1906	1843-1903
RAL/SA T	1843-1899	1853-1899	1843-1899
	101010100	1000 1000	
KIMBERWORTH PARK, St John			[R]
	[1958-date	[1958-date at	
	at church]	church]	
KIRK BRAMWITH, St Mary	4700 4005	4700 4070	[D]
DAD O	1700-1925	1700-1976	1700-1979
DAD         M           DAD/SA         BT(M)         1598-1849	1813-2000	1754-1976	1814-1979
DAD/SA BT(W) 1596-1649			
KIRK SANDALL, St Oswald			[D]
DAD O	1679-1988	1679-1978	1679-1937
DAD M	1813-1950	1755-1953	1813-1950
DLS M	1679-1914	1679-1837	1679-1937
DAD/SA BT(M) 1603-1848			
VIDV CMEATON C4 Datas			F\A/7
KIRK SMEATON, St Peter SA BT(M) 1600-1863		+	[W]
SA BT(M) 1600-1863 BALS T	1754-1837	-	1772-1938
DALO I	1734-1037	-	1112-1930
LAUGHTON EN LE MORTHEN, All Saints			[R]

Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
SA O(M)	1568-1979	1562-1981	1561-1938
SA BT(M) 1601-1836			
SA BT(M) (extracts) 1568-1730			
RAL M	1813-1936	1754-1921	1813-1938
RAL/SA T	1568-1987	1562-1981	1562-1952
LETWELL with GILDINGWELLS, St. Peter			[R]
	[1813-date	[1969-date at	[1841-date
	at church]	church]	at the
			church]
SA BT(M) 1601-1727			
RAL BT(M)(T) 1601-1728			
RAL T	1813-1965	1869-1983	1841-1983
LODGE MOOD OUT IN (5.1			F01
LODGE MOOR, St Luke (Fulwood, Sheffield)			[S]
- Chambridy	[1966-date	[1969-date at	_
	at church]	church]	
LOVERSALL, St Katherine			[D]
DAD O	1844-1970	1837-1976	1814-1980
DAD M	1844-1970	1839-1951	1814-1980
SA/DAD BT(M) 1601-1830			
, ,			
MALIN BRIDGE, St Polycarp (Sheffield)			[S]
SA O	1920-1977	1934-1991	-
MALTBY, Church of the Ascension			[R]
SA O	1912-1933	[1949-date at	-
		church]	
MALTBY, Church of the Venerable Bede			[R]
	-	[1967-date at	-
		church]	
MALTDY Ct Downslowns			ID1
MALTBY, St. Bartholomew	1506 1004	1606 1000	[R]
SA O(M) 1603 1836	1586-1934	1606-1932	1602-1948
SA BT(M) 1603-1836  RAL M	1780-1934	1754-1919	1780-1948
	1597-1650	1603-1812	1602-1631
RAL T(pr)	1997-1990	1003-1012	& 1678-
			1813
BALS/SLS/RRI/SA T 1597-1812	1698-1814	1606-1653 &	1013
5/120/020/111/JA 1 1037-1012	1000-1014	1698-1812	
		1000 1012	
MANOR, St Aiden (Sheffield)			[S]
SA O	1912-1974	1922-1967	-
÷:-			
MANOR, St Luke, Dyers Hill (Sale Memorial			[S]
Church) (Sheffield) (closed)			"-"
SA O(M)	1865-1942	1879-1942	-
	1	I .	

Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
MANOR, St Paul, Arbourthorne (Sheffield)			[S]
(closed)			[0]
SA O	1937-2002	1940-2001	-
MANOR, St Swithun (Sheffield)			[61
SA O	1929-1973	1929-1976	[S]
	1929-1979	1929-1970	
MANOR, William Temple Church (Sheffield)			[S]
	[1957-date	1971-date at	-
	at church]	church]	
MARR, St Helen			[D]
DAD O	1729-1980	1729-1976	1729-1979
DAD M	1813-1980	1755-1976	1813-1979
DAD/SA BT(M) 1600-1840			
SA M	1729-1812	1730-1804	1729-1812
MACROCHOLI OLI LI L			rpi
MASBROUGH, St John the Evangelist (Rothol (closed)	ernam)		[R]
SA O(M)	1864-1973	1865-1973	1871-1885
SA BT(M) 1864-1869			
RAL M	1864-1903	1865-1907	1871-1885
MASBROUGH, St Paul (Rotherham)	1005 1070	4040 4070	[R]
SA O	1905-1978	1916-1972	-
MELTON ON THE HILL see HIGH			[D]
MELTON			
<b>MEXBOROUGH</b> , St George – see MEXBORO	OUGH, St		[D]
MEXBOROUGH, St John the Baptist			[D]
DAD O	1562-1951	1592-1951	1559-1980
DAD M	1813-1951	1755-1951	1813-1927
DAD/SA BT(M) 1600-1877			
SA T	1562-1873	1592-1837	1559-1870
MIDHOPE, St James			[B]
SA O	1772-	_	1772-
	1814 <sup>1</sup>		1814 <sup>1</sup>
WYAS O	1813-1915	1926-1973 <sup>2</sup>	1813-1938
BALS BT 1813-1855			
SA BT(M) 1813-1855			
(1) for pre-1772 baptisms and burials, see BRADFIELD AND BOLSTERSTONE			
registers.			
	1	1	

Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
(2) for pre-1926 marriages see PENISTONE			
and BRADFIELD registers.			
MILLIONOFO HAL TIME (OLAGALI)			FO1
MILLHOUSES, Holy Trinity (Sheffield) SA O	1927-1966	1931-1969	[S]
SA U	1927-1900	1931-1969	-
MILLHOUSES, St Oswald (Sheffield)			[S]
SA O	1908-1968	1910-1991	-
MONK BRETTON – see BRETTON, MONK			[B]
MODTOM EV. O. O			FO1
MORTOMLEY, St Saviour, High Green SA O	1070 1000	1005 1000	[S]
SA U	1872-1988	1925-1983	-
MOSBOROUGH, Emmanuel Church, Waterthorpe			[S]
1	[1974-date	[1979-date at	-
	at church]	church]	
MOODODOUGH SAM			FO.
MOSBOROUGH, St Mark	4077 4070	4007 4004	[S]
SA O(M)	1877-1973	1887-1984	-
MOSS, All Saints (Campsall) (closed)			[D]
DAD O	1875-1971	1878-1968	1875-1977
DAD M	1875-1971	1878-1968	1876-1980
NEEPSEND, St Michael and All Angels (Shef (closed)	field)		[S]
SA O(M)	1867-	1868-1942	_
S()	1953	1000 1012	
NETHER HOYLAND see Hoyland			
NETHERTHORRE (OL afficility)			
NETHERTHORPE (Sheffield) see SHEFFIELD, St Anne, St Bartholomew,			
St George, St Luke (Hollis Croft), St			
Nathanael, St Philip and St Stephen			
, ,	'		
NEWHALL, St Clement (Sheffield) see ATTE	RCLIFFE,		
St Clement			
NORFOLK PARK (Sheffield) see Arbourthorn	20		
NORFOLK FARK (Silemeta) See Albourthon	IC		
NORTHFIELD, St Michael and All Angels (Ro	otherham)		[R]
(closed)			
SA O(M)	1870-1977	1902-1975	-
RAL M	1870-1902	-	-
NODTON Ct lamas (Chaffield)			[0]
NORTON, St James (Sheffield) SA O(M)	1559-1901	1559-1924	<b>[S]</b> 1559-1948
RA/SLS/SA T 1559-1812	1999-1901	1009-1924	1553-1346
1000-1012			

Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
NORTON LEES, St Paul (Norton, Sheffield)	10== 101=	1077 1017	[S]
SA O(M)	1877-1917	1877-1915	-
NORTON WOODSEATS St Chad (Norton			[6]
NORTON WOODSEATS, St Chad (Norton, Sheffield)			[S]
SA O	1912-2004	1912-1996	-
NORWOOD, St Leonard (Sheffield)			[S]
·	[1929-date at church]	[1941-date at church]	-
<b>OUGHTIBRIDGE</b> , Church of the Ascension (Bradfield)			[S]
SA O(M)	1843-1996	1868-1986	1843-1961
SA BT(M) 1843-1850			
OWLERTON, St John (Sheffield)			[S]
SA O(M)	1874-1967	1876-1973	-
<b>OWLERTON</b> , Hillsborough Barracks Chapel (Sheffield) (closed)			[S]
SA O	1858-1888	_	_
0/1	1000 1000		
OWSTON, All Saints			[D]
DAD O	1683-1946	1684-1955	1683-1913
DAD M	1813-1946	1754-1951	1813-1956
DLS M	1683-1812	1683-1837	1683-1812
DAD/SA BT(M) 1600-1878			
SA M	1683-1925	1684-1928	1683-1919
BALS/DLS T 1600-1837			
PARK, St John (Sheffield)			[S]
SA O(M)	1840-1971	1849-1977	1840-1924
PARKGATE, Christ Church (Rawmarsh)			[R]
(closed)	4000 4050	4000 4050	
SA O(M)	1868-1958	1868-1958	-
RAL M	1868-1905	1868-1910	-
PARSON CROSS, Church of Christ the King (Sheffield) (closed)			[S]
Tang (onemola) (olooca)	[1940-	_	_
	1970 at		
	Parson		
	Cross, St		
	Cecilia]		
PARSON CROSS, St Bernard (Sheffield)			[S]
SA O	1937-1961	[1964-date at	-
		church]	

	Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
PARSON	CROSS, St Cecilia (Sheffield)			[S]
SA	O	1939-1974	1939-1976	- [0]
- C/ 1		1000 101 1	1000 1010	
PENISTO	NE, St John the Baptist			[B]
WYAS	O(M)	1644-1966	1644-1936	1644-1977
SA/BALS	BT(M) 1600-1846		1	
SA	M	1643-1932	1643-1936	1643-1977
BALS	M	1643-1944	1643-1966	1643-1977
			1857-1881	
			(banns)	
SA	Т	1643-1746	1643-1746	1643-1746
SA	Р	1646-1652	1646-1652	1646-1651
BALS	T 1643-1844	1844-1861	1800-1837	
	R, Christ Church (Sheffield)			[S]
SA	O(M)	1846-1985	1850-1993	1850-1931
PITSMOO	R, St Peter, Ellesmere (Sheffield)		F1000 1 1	[S]
		-	[1980-date at	-
			church]	
DITEMOO	D (Chaffiald) and also			
	R (Sheffield) see also IDE, All Saints			
BRIGITIS	IDE, All Saints			
POLLING	TON, St John			[ER and NR]
DAD	0	-	1855-1963	-
DAD	M	1854-1951	1855-1963	1855-1951
RANMOO	R, St John (Sheffield)			[S]
SA	0	1879-1961	1880-1992	-
	ELD, St James			[R]
SA	O(M)	1563-1949	1563-1977	1563-1949
SA	BT(M) 1598-1872			
RAL	M	1563-1949	1570-1949	1579-1949
RAL	M	1813-1949	1757-1949	1813-1949
RAL/DAD	Т	1563-1899	1570-1899	1579-1899
	(0.11)			
	FE, St James (Snaith)	1001 1050	4000 4007	[ER]
DAD	0	1691-1958	1689-1987	1753-1982
DAD	M	1813-1957	1826-1950	1813-1959
DAD	BT(M) 1600-1844			
D A \A/B/A A D	CU Ct Mont			[D]
SA	SH, St Mary	1550 1070	1550 1077	[R]
	O(M) PT(M) 1603 1840	1558-1970	1558-1977	1558-1926
SA SA	BT(M) 1603-1849 T 1558-1637	+		
RAL	M 1336-1637	1558-1901	1558-1915	1558-1902
RAL/DAD	T	1558-1899	1558-1910	1558-1899
	I	1000-1099	1000-1900	1000-1099

	Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
RAL	T (ms)	1653-1812	1653-1753	1653-1812
D 414/14 A D 6	NI OAN I I I			
RAWMARS	SH, St Nicholas, Ryecroft	[1060 data	[1079 data at	[R]
		[1960-date at the	[1978-date at the church]	-
		church]	the charcing	
		Gridion		
RICHMONI	ROAD, St Catherine (Sheffield)			[S]
	· ·	[1935-date	[1959-date at	-
		at the	the church]	
		church]		
DOCCINOT	CONL C4 Michael			[D]
DAD	ON, St Michael	1538-1971	1520 1000	<b>[D]</b> 1592-1958
DAD	O M	1813-1952	1538-1988 1754-1950	1927-1950
DAD	IVI	1013-1932	1754-1950	1927-1930
ROSSINGT	ON, St Luke			
DAD	0	1916-2000	1949-1982	-
ROTHERH	AM, All Saints			[R]
SA	O(M)	1542-1949	1540-1947	1541-1881
SA	BT(M) 1600-1837			
RAL	M	1544-1939	1556-1939	1549-1881
RAL	M	1542-1901	1540-1902	1549-1881
RAL/SLS/D	4 /	4540 4040	1540-1837	4544 4500
RAL	T(pr)	1542-1640	1540-1560	1541-1563
SA	T	1540-1640	1540-1560	1541-1563
ROTHERH	AM see also Brinsworth,			
	ifton, Eastwood, Greaseborough,			
	pe, Kimberworth, Masbrough,			
Northfield, a	and Thorpe Hesley.			
	, St John the Baptist			[B]
WYAS	O(M)	1558-1956	1562-1958	1557-1938
SA/BALS	BT(M) 1600-1842	4550 4040	4500 4040	4554 4040
SA/BALS	M	1558-1812	1562-1812	1551-1812
BALS	M	1558-1978	1562-1987	1557-1938
BALS	T 1557-1812		1817-1985 (b	anns)
DALO	1 1007-1012			
SHARROW	, St Andrew (Sheffield)			[S]
SA	O(M)	1869-1962	1870-1974	-
			and 1994-	
			1996	
	O, Cathedral Church of St Peter			[S]
	(formerly Sheffield Parish			
Church)	O(M)	4500 4000	4500 4005	4500 4055
SA	O(M) 1609 1939	1560-1969	1560-1985	1560-1855
SA	BT(M) 1608-1828			

	Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
SA	Т	1560-1830	1560-1985	1560-1812
		[part]		
YAS/HAS	Т	1560-1752	1560-1736	1560-1736
	D, Cholera Burial Ground			[S]
SA	0			1832
SHEFFIFI	D, General Cemetery			[S]
SA	BT(M) 1850-1852			[-]
SA	T			1836-1857
	D, Hillsborough Barracks Chapel			
See OWLE	RTON			
	S. I.I.I. Tierre Marie et al. (I.I.I.I.)			FF01
	D, Holy Trinity, Wicker (closed)	4047 4074	4040 4074	[[S]
SA	O(M)	1847-1971	1848-1971	1859
SHEEFIEL	D, St Anne, Hoyle Street (closed)			[S]
SA	O(M)	1883-1941	1884-1929	- [0]
	<i>-</i> ()	1000 1011	10011020	
SHEFFIELD	D, St Bartholomew, Langsett			[S]
Road	,			
SA	O(M)	1882-1960	1882-1956	-
	D, St George, Brook Hill (closed)		101010	[S]
SA	O(M)	1825-1977	1848-1977	1830-1899
SA	Т	1825-1900	1848-1900	1830-1899
SHEEFIEL	D, St James, (St James' Street)			[8]
(closed)	5, St dames, (St dames Street)			[0]
SA	O(M)	1813-1940	1849-1940	1808-1855
SA	BT(M) 1828-1830			
SA	T	-	1849-1940	-
BALS	Т	-	-	1813-1855
	O, St John, Park	10101071	1010 10==	[S]
SA	O(M)	1840-1971	1849-1977	1840-1924
SA	<u> </u>	1840-1897	1862-1900	1840-1924
SHEEFIEL	D, St Jude, Eldon Street (closed)			[S]
SA	O	1849-1939	1849-1939	[5]
SA	BT(M) 1849-1852	10.10 1000	10 10 1000	
-	( )			
OHEEE:	2001 1. 14 (2.11 (2			
	D, St Jude, Moorfields, Gibraltar			[S]
Street (clos	,	1848-1938	1855-1938	
SA	O(M) T	1040-1930	1855-1938	-
34	ı	-	1000-1900	-

	Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
SHEFFIE	LD, St Luke, Dyers Hill (Sale			[S]
Memorial	Church) (closed)			
SA	O(M)	1865-1942	1879-1942	-
	LD, St Luke, Hollis Croft (closed)			[S]
SA	O(M)	1852-1938	1860-1938	-
CHEEFIEI	ID Ct Many Promall Land			[6]
SA	LD, St Mary, Bramall Lane	1830-1969	1848-1990	<b>[S]</b> 1830-1908
	O(M)			
SA	Т	1830-1921	1848-1904	1830-1908
SHEEFIE	LD, St Matthew, Carver Street			[S]
SA	O	1855-1924	1855-1946	- [0]
O/ C		1000 1021	1000 1010	
SHEFFIEI Street (clo	LD, St Matthias, Summerfield			[8]
SA	O(M)	1877-1949	1880-1949	_
<i>57</i> (	~\iii)	1077 1040	1000 1040	
SHEFFIEI (closed)	LD, St Paul, Pinstone Street			[8]
SA	O(M)	1767-1937	1848-1937	1768-1861
SA	BT(M) 1824-1829			
SA	T	1767-1792	1848-1937	1768-1792
SHEFFIEI Cathedral	LD, SS Peter & Paul (ie Sheffield )			[8]
SA	O	1560-1969	1560-1985	1560-1855
SA	BT 1608-1828			
YAS/HAS	T	1560-1752	1560-1736	1560-1736
SLS/RRI	Т	1560-1752	1560-1754	1560-1719
BALS	Т	-	-	1813-1855
	LD, St Philip, Infirmary Road			[S]
,	Wardsend Cemetery) (closed)	1828-1969	1848-1962	1020 1077
SA SA	O(M) T	1828-1909	1848-1902	1829-1977 1829-1922
SA	I .	1020-1901	1040-1902	1029-1922
SHEFFIFI	LD, St Silas, Gilcar, Broomhall			[S]
Street (clo				[~]
SA	O(M)	1861-2000	1869-1994	-
	` '			
SHEFFIE	LD, St Simon, Eyre Street (closed)			[S]
SA	O(M)	1856-1940	1867-1940	-
	LD, St Stephen, Fawcett Street			[S]
SA	O(M)	1858-1940	1859-1940	-
SA	T	1858-1902	1859-1901	-
	LD, Sale Memorial Church see			
Sileilleid,	St Luke, Dyers Hill			
		1		1

	Paris	sh	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
SHEEFIEI D	Sir John F	Brown's Church see			
BRIGHTSID	•				
SHEFFIELD	), Wardsend	d Cemetery see			
SHEFFIELD	, St Philip	·			
		ydale, Arbouthorne,			
·		bbey, Brightside, arbrook, Crookes,			
Crookesmoo	or, Crosspo	ol, Darnall, Dore,			
·		ale, Fulwood, eeley, Highfield,			
		or, Malin Bridge,			
Manor, Millh	ouses, Nee	psend, Norton,			
Norton Lees Owlerton, Pa	•	oodseats, Norwood,			
		oad, Sharrow,			
Shiregreen,	Totley, Wal	kley and Wincobank			
SHIDECDE	EN St Hilds	a (Sheffield) (closed)			re1
SA	0	(Silemela) (closea)	1925-1976	1938-2005	[S] -
				1000 2000	
SHIREGRE Christopher	•	es and St			[S]
•	,		[1933-date	[1941-date at	-
			at church]	church]	
SILKSTON	E, All Saints				[B]
WYAS	O(M)		1558-1965	1558-1948	1558-1970
SA/BALS	BT(M)	1600-1846			•
SA	M		1558-1830	1558-1835	1558-1812
BALS	M		1558-1965	1558-1948	1558-1970
				1889-1995 (Banns)	
BALS	Т	1558-1830		(Barris)	
SKEL BROO	OKE St Mic	hael and All Angels			[D]
DAD	O	naorana / iii / iiigois	1592-1979	1588-1995	1587-1976
DAD	 M		1813-1979	1754-1950	1813-1976
DLS	M		1587-1760	1587-1760	1587-1760
DAD/SA	BT(M)	1609-1880			
SA	P		1592-1968	1592-1836	1592-1968
BALS/DLS	Т	1592-1836			
<b>SNAITH</b> , St	Lawrence				[D]
DAD	0		1559-1947	1538-1950	1537-1853
DAD	М		1813-1951	1754-1950	1813-2000
YAS/BALS	Т		1559-1657	1538-1657	1537-1656
DAD	BT(M)	1599-1858	1		

	Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
SOUTH K	IRKBY, All Saints			[W]
SA	BT(M) 1601-1853			
BALS	Т	1813-1849	-	1813-1883
SDPOTRO	DROUGH, St Edmund			[D]
(Sprotboro				נטן
DAD	O	1954-1971	1973-1990	_
		10011011	1070 1000	
SPROTBO	ROUGH, St Mary the Virgin			[D]
DAD	0	1559-2006	1559-2006	1559-1996
DAD	M	1813-1961	1754-1954	1813-1996
DAD/SA	BT(M) 1600-1846			
RAL	M		1823-1900	
			(banns)	
CTAINFO	TIL Ct Mon. (Hotticld)			[D]
DAD	RTH, St Mary (Hatfield)	1005 1020	1005 1050	[D]
DAD	O M	1885-1938 1885-1938	1885-1959 1885-1950	-
DAD	IVI	1000-1930	1000-1900	
STAINTO	N, St Winifred			[D]
DAD	0	1556-1940	1556-1959	1557-1816
DAD		1813-1993	1756-1954	1813-1950
SA	M	1556-1940	1556-1959	1557-1781
DAD/SA	BT(M) 1601-1846			
SA	T 1556-1651 (extrac	cts)		
	ROUGH, St James	1000 1005	40=0 4000	
BALS	M	1863-1985	1956-1980	
			1956-1982	
			(banns)	
STAINCR	OSS, St John			
BALS	M	1928-1978	1928-1976	
27 (20		1020 1070	1929-1987	
			(Banns)	
STANNING	GTON, Christ Church (Bradfield)			[S]
SA	O(M)	1830-1980	1858-1986	1830-1959
SA	BT(M) 1830-1876			
0=01/0=				
	BRIDGE, St Matthias	4047 4004	4047 4000	[S]
SA	0	1917-1964	1917-1986	-
SWINEFI	EET, St Margaret (Whitgift)	1		[ER]
DAD	O	1813-1913	1845-1967	1813-1948
DAD	M	1813-1954	1845-1958	1813-1948
DAD	BT(M) 1810-1841	12121301	12.10.1000	12.2.3
RAL	M	1813-1834	1845-1900	1813-1900
	, St. Margaret (Wath)			[R]
DAD	0	1800-1971	1849-1988	1817-1982

Parish			Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
DAD	M		1800-1951	1849-1950	1817-1951
DAD/SA	BT(M)	1815-1849			
SA	M		1800-1899	1849-1900	1817-1898
RAL	М		1800-1900	1849-1899	1817-1900
RAL	Т		1800-1892		1817-1892
				_	
SYKEHOU	SE, Holy Tri	nity (Fishlake)			[D]
DAD	0	,	1860-1994	1860-1974	-
DAD	M		1860-1994	1860-1973	-
TANKERSI	LEY, St Pete	er			[B]
SA	O(M)		1598-1948	1598-1965	1598-1943
SA/BALS	BT(M)	1600-1861			
BALS	M		1598-1948	1598-1965	1598-1943
BALS/SA	Т	1598-1840			
THORNE, S	St Nicholas				[D]
DAD	0		1565-1957	1565-1958	1565-1956
DAD	M		1813-1951	1754-1950	1813-1956
DAD	T		1565-1887	1565-1837	1565-1896
				1823-1895	
				(banns)	
DAD/SA	BT(M)	1601-1861			·
THORNE N	<b>100RENDS</b>	, St Wilfrith (Thorne)			[D]
DAD	0		1940-1964	1940-1971	-
DAD	M		1940-1956	1940-1951	-
THORPE H	<b>ESLEY</b> , Ho	ly Trinity (Rotherham/	Wentworth)		[R]
SA	O(M)		1839-1953	1857-1974	1847-1941
RAL	M		1839-1908	1857-1904	1847-1915
THORPE S	<b>ALVIN</b> , St F	Peter			[R]
SA	O(M)		1592-1899	1592-1982	1592-1993
SA	BT(M)	1600-1835			
SA	Т	1592-1847 (extrac	cts)		
RAL	M		1800-1900	1754-1982	-
RAL/SA	T		1592-1985	1593-1982	1592-1985
SLS	Т	1592-1726			
THROAPHAM (Thorpe), St John (includes					[R]
GILDINGW	,		1515 1055	4545 4055	45454040
SA	O(M)		1547-1977	1547-1977	1547-1940
SA	Т		1547-1743	1547-1743	1547-
	DT/1/1	4004 4000	1		[1741]
SA	BT(M)	1601-1836	4740 4077	4754 4077	4747 4040
RAL	M		1746-1977	1754-1977	1747-1940
RAL	T		1548-1977	1549-1977	1584-1985
TUDYDED	011 071	d			ID:
	GH, St Leon	ard	4500 4040	4500 4004	[R]
SA	O(M)		1599-1948	1599-1981	1599-1914

	Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials			
SA/BALS	BT(M) 1603-1843						
RAL	M	1787-1906	1754-1928	1787-1914			
THRYBER	GH, St Peter, Whinney Hill			[R]			
SA	0	[1936-date	1946-1979	-			
		at the					
		church]					
THIRDDO	FT Ot Circum and Ot hade			[O 0 D]			
THURCRO	FT, St Simon and St Jude	[4047 dete	[4000 data at	[S & R]			
		[1917-date at church]	[1939-date at church]	-			
		at Church	Churchij				
THURGOL	AND, Holy Trinity			[B]			
SA	O	1843-1976	1844-1961	1843-1967			
WYAS	O(M)	1843-1976	1844-1961	1843-1967			
BALS	M	1843-1976	1844-1961	1843-1967			
		1010101010	101111001	1010101			
THURLSTO	ONE, St Saviour (Penistone)			[B]			
WYAS	O(M)	1906-1952	1906-1969	1906-1983			
BALS	M	1906-1952	1906-1969	1906-1983			
			1906-1983				
			(Banns)				
	OE, St Helen			[B]			
DAD	0	1619-1993	1619-1990	1619-1962			
DAD	M	1813-1951	1754-1951	1813-1962			
DAD/SAS/E	\	4040 4040	1010 1010	1010 1010			
SA	M	1619-1812	1619-1842	1619-1812			
BALS	M	1813-1951	1754-1951	1813-1962			
TICKHILL,	St Mary			[D]			
DAD	O O	1542-1895	1538-1910	1537-1901			
DAD	M	1813-1951	1754-1959	1813-1957			
DLS	M	1542-1837	1539-1739	1538-1855			
		10121001	1790-1838	1000 1000			
DAD/SA	BT(M) 1600-1866						
SA	M	1542-1812	1538-1753	1537-1812			
SA	Р	1542-1771	1538-1753	1537-1771			
SA	Т	1542-1812	-	-			
	St Lawrence (Rotherham)			[S]			
SA	O(M)	1711-1967	1711-1968	1711-1967			
SA	BT(M) 1712-1856						
SA	T	1711-1851	1711-1851	1711-1851			
TODMICK	Ot Datas and Ot David			[D]			
	St Peter and St Paul	1500 1001	1577 1007	[R]			
SA	O(M)	1599-1981	1577-1997	1577-1981			
RAL SA	M BT(M) 1600-1862	1813-1915	1813-1835	1813-1981			
SA	T 1600-1862 T 1602-1812 (extrac	te)					
RAL/DAD	T 1802-1812 (extrac	1601-1900	1577-1835	1577-1899			
	Į.	1001-1300	1011-1000	1011-1099			

	Paris	sh	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
TOTI EV	NII 0 : 1 (0)	(C. 1 1)			F01
	All Saints (Sh	effield)	1001100		[S]
SA	0		1924-1965	1925-1992	-
TREETON	St Holon				[R]
SA	O(M)		1677-1901	1677-1964	1677-1988
SA		1598-1876	1677-1901	1077-1904	1077-1900
RAL	BT(M) M	1390-1070	1677-1901	1677-1918	1677-1919
KAL	IVI		1077-1901	1077-1910	1077-1919
ULLEY, Ho	oly Trinity				[R]
OLLLI, III	51y 111111ty		[1851-date	[1852-date at	[1851-date
			at church]	church]	at church]
SA	BT(M)	1865-1869	at onaronj	onaronj	at ondrong
<u> </u>	DT (IVI)	1000 1000			
WADSI FY	, (Ecclesfield	4)	+		[8]
SA	O(M)	<u>~ /</u>	1834-1968	1857-1978	1835-1966
SA	BT(M)	1848	1001 1000	1001 1010	1000 1000
<u> </u>	<b>∠</b> 1 (171)	1070	+		
WADSLEY	BRIDGE SE	ee Hillsborough	1		
WADWOR	TH, St John	the Baptist			[D]
DAD	0	o <u>Dapuot</u>	1574-1951	1574-1963	1574-1950
DAD	M		1750-1790	1750-1790	1750-1790
27.12			1813-1951	1790-1952	1813-1950
DLS	T	1574-1837	1010101	1100 100	
DAD/SA	BT(M)	1603-1839			
SA	M		1574-1951	1575-1916	1575-1868
WALES, S	t. John the B	aptist			[R]
SA	O(M)		1579-1874	1578-1920	1578-1918
SA	BT(M)	1600-1870			
SA	M	1578-1757			
SA	Т		1579-1813	1578-1920	1578-1918
RAL	М		1757-1874	1754-1915	1757-1918
RAL	T		1579-1874	1578-1920	1578-1918
WALKLEY	, St Mary (Sl	neffield)			[S]
SA	O(M)		1869-1946	1870-1947	1880-1948
		Whitehouse Road			[S]
(Sheffield)					
SA	0		1913-1934	-	-
	ORTH, St Pe	eter			[D]
DAD	0		1594-1948	1595-1969	1596-1959
DAD	M		1813-1951	1758-1951	1813-1959
RAL	M		1813-1888	1754-1800	-
DAD/SA	BT(M)	1600-1848			
SA	M		1594-1931	1595-1951	1596-1917

	Paris	h	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
WATERTH	HORPE see M	IOSBOROUGH			
WATH UP	ON DEARNE	, All Saints			[R]
DAD	0		1598-2006	1598-2002	1598-1966
DAD	М		1813-1956	1754-1950	1813-1950
DAD/SA/B	ALS BT(	M) 1600-1858			
RAL	М		1598-1900	1598-1900	1598-1900
RAL	Т		1778-	1779-1837	1778-1889
			1903		
YAS/BALS	S/RRI T		1598-1778	1598-1779	1598-1778
14/4 711 115	<u> </u>	04 1 1040	THURSHIPS		
WATHUP	ON DEARNE	, <b>St James</b> – see WA	TH UPON DEA	ARNE, All Saints	
\A/A\A/\I	Ot Data:				(ED)
WAWNE,		4500 4070			[ER]
SA	BT(M)	1598-1870			
MENTINA	DTU UALITE	nity (Moth)			[D]
DAD	RTH, Holy Tri	nity (vvatn)	1654-1958	1654-1914	[ <b>R</b> ]
DAD	<u>О</u> М		1813-1951	1754-1952	1813-1951
SA/DAD		1604 1056	1013-1931	1754-1952	1013-1931
SA/RAL	BT(M) M	1604-1856	1654-1958	1654-1952	1654-1939
BALS	M		1004-1900	1824-1906	1876-1900
DALS	IVI			(Banns)	1070-1900
RAL	M		1654-1900	1654-1900	1654-1890
TOTAL	IVI		1004 1000	1004 1000	1004 1000
WHEATIE	Y, St Mary (D	)oncaster)			[D]
DAD	O O	oriodotor)	1885-1951	1899-1952	-
DAD	M		1885-1951	1899-1950	_
27.2			1000 1001	1000 1000	
WHINNEY	HILL see TH	RYBERGH			
WHISTON	, St Mary Mag	ndalene			[R]
SA	O(M)	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	1587-1997	1587-1997	1587-1952
SA	BT(M)	1600-1855			
RAL	M		1715-1870	1715-1906	1715-1918
WHITGIFT	, St Mary Mag	gdalene			[ER]
DAD	0		1562-1926	1562-1962	1562-1886
DAD	M		1750-2001	1750-1951	1750-1886
DAD	BT(M)	1600-1838			
SA	M		1562-1926	1562-1887	1562-1886
	LEY, St Albar				[R]
	l registers kep	ot at church			
SA	Р		1567-1782	1570-1753	1567-1782
SA	BT(M)	1600-1843			
RAL	M		1567-1967	1570-1968	1567-1966
RAL	Т		1654-1876	1653-1811	1654-1966

	Parish	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
WINCOBA	NK, St Thomas (Sheffield)			[S]
SA	O(M)	1875-1965	1877-1979	-
SA	T	1875-1890	-	-
				[L]
	<b>WTON</b> , All Saints			
SA	BT(M) 1626-1859			
14/01/01/0				
	LL, St Mary (Darfield)	4004 4004	4004 4000	[B]
DAD	O	1864-1991	1864-1993	-
DAD BALS	M M	1864-1950 1864-1950	1864-1951 1864-1951	-
DALS	IVI	1004-1950	1004-1931	<del>-</del> -
WOODHO	JSE, St James (Handsworth)			[S]
SA	O(M)	1875-1986	1878-1985	[5]
0/1	O(W)	1073 1300	1070 1303	
WOODLAN	IDS, All Saints (Adwick le Street)			[D]
DAD	0	1911-1963	1914-1973	
DAD	M	1911-1951	1914-1950	_
WOODSEA	ATS see NORTON WOODSEATS			
WOODSET	TS, St. George (Anston)			[R]
		[1841-date	[1841-date at	[1843-date
		at the	the church]	at the
		church]		church]
SA	BT(M) 1841-1867	1011 1001	1011 1001	1010 1070
RAL	Т	1841-1984	1841-1984	1843-1978
WOOLLEY	Ct Datar (Dayatan)			l IDI
WYAS	', St Peter (Royston) O	1651-1941	1651-1955	<b>[D]</b> 1651-1954
SA	BT(M) 1600-1886	1031-1941	1001-1900	1001-1904
34	D1(W) 1000-1800			
WORSBRO	DUGH, St Mary			[B]
SA	O(M)	1559-1950	1559-1929	1559-1933
SA/BALS	BT(M) 1600-1862	1000 1000	1000 1020	1 1000 1000
BALS	M	1813-1950	1754-1929	1813-1933
BALS	T	1559-1906	1559-1896	1559-1922
SA	Т	1559-1837	1565-1812	1569-1741
	DUGH BRIDGE, St James			[B]
(closed)		100= :555	1000 1000	_
SA	0	1907-1968	1909-1969	-
BALS	M	1918-1976	1917-1971	-
MODEDDA	NICH COMMON CALLIER			ID:
	DUGH COMMON, St Luke	1010 1070	1017 1071	[B]
SA BALS	O M	1918-1976	1917-1971	-
DALO	IVI	1907-1968	1909-1969	-

Parish		Baptisms	Marriages	Burials	
WORSBRO	UGH DALE, S	Thomas (Worsbro	ugh)		[B]
SA	O(M)		1859-1971	1861-1977	1859-1979
BALS	M		1859-1973	1861-1977	1859-1979
BALS	T	1859-1971			
WORTLEY,	St Leonard (Ta	ankersley)			[S]
SA	O(M)		1685-	1678-1980	1678-
			1988*		1989*
SA/BALS	BT(M)	1637-1863			
BALS	M		1685-1988	1678-1980	1678-1989
*Original registers of baptism from 1884, and					
burials from	1877, are retai	ned at the church			

## Non-conformist and Catholic Registers

In comparison with the Church of England, the registers of Nonconformist churches are neither as consistent nor as numerous, for a variety of reasons. Very few Nonconformist registers survive before the mid eighteenth century. but from that period those outside the Established Church - the Roman Catholics, Society of Friends (or Quakers) and the Independents - were joined by the Methodists whose membership increased rapidly. By the early nineteenth century the Methodists were numerically the most important of the Nonconformist denominations although they had already begun to divide into separate groups or 'connexions', the largest of which joined together in 1932. The Methodists also had a distinctive organisation. Chapels were grouped into 'circuits' and these also sometimes kept registers.

Before the twentieth century, the great majority of all Nonconformist registers are of baptisms or births. There have never been many chapels with their own burial grounds and so most Nonconformists would have been buried in parish churchyards. The law of marriage was strict after the Marriage Act of 1753, often referred to as Lord Hardwick's Act. Under its provisions, apart from Jews and Quakers, legal marriages could only take place in a parish church. As a result, most marriages between Nonconformists are to be found in the parish registers.

From 1837 all places of worship could be registered as places for marriages. But the legal registration of the marriage was undertaken by the local civil registrar who attended at the chapel (civil registration was also introduced in 1837) and so the marriage entry will be found in the registers of the civil registrar. There was, of course, no reason why the chapel should not keep its own informal register of marriages which took place there, but very few did.

The Marriage Act, 1898 gave Nonconformists the right to have a member of their congregation authorised to register marriages. The authorised person had the duty of making returns to the Registrar General and keeping a duplicate register at the chapel. When a Nonconformist church is closed, this duplicate register is sent to the Registrar General. Duplicate marriage registers of Methodist churches in South Yorkshire are transferred to the relevant district archive service.

An Act of Parliament in 1840 authorised the General Register Office to take into its keeping the registers of any Nonconformist chapel which wished to deposit them. These, known as the 'non-parochial registers', are now housed in the National Archives, but microfilm copies are available locally, as can be seen from the list.

The Roman Catholic Diocese of Hallam has appointed Sheffield Archives to act as the record office for the diocese, which comprises South Yorkshire and parts of Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire.

The history of the various Nonconformist denominations, with details of the records generated by them, is dealt with by D. J. Steel in

'Sources for nonconformist genealogy and family history' (Phillimore 1973).

The Roman Catholic church is similarly dealt with by the same author's 'Sources for Roman Catholic and Jewish genealogy and family history' (Phillimore 1974). Readers should note that the locations given for some of the records in these books are now out of date.

Wherever possible the Nonconformist denomination has been identified in the list and the following abbreviations have been used:

## Methodist

M = if not otherwise identified

NC = New Connexion

PM = Primitive Methodist

UM = United Methodist

WM = Wesleyan Methodist

WR = Wesleyan Reform

## Other

A = Apostolic

B = Baptist

C = Congregational

CNOD = Christians - Not Otherwise Designated

FC = Free Christian

I = Independent

L = Lutheran

P = Pentecostal

PB = Plymouth Brethren

RC = Roman Catholic

NS = National Spiritualist

SA = Salvation Army

SF = Society of Friends

U = Unitarian

UR = United Reformed

An entry followed by (M) indicates a microfilm copy, and (P) indicates a photocopy. Copies may be held by more than one District Archives Department and in such cases there will be more than one entry in the list. Hence, for example, both Doncaster and Sheffield hold microfilm copies of the registers of Burghwallis

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
ABBEYDALE					
Congregational Church	SA	C/UR	1887-1932	1887-1993	
Mother of God and St Wilfred	SA	RC	1879-1942		
Vincent Road/South View Road	SA	PM	1895-1946	1900-1949	
ADWICK LE STREET					
Woodlands, Parkside	DAD	PM	1911-1990	1959-1988	
Woodlands, St Joseph (M)	DAD	RC	1927-1930		
Woodlands, SS Joseph & Teresa (M)	DAD	RC	1927-1938		
Woodlands, Woodside	DAD	NM	1909-1948	1934-1947	
ALMONDBURY (Huddersfield)					
(in Sheffield, Scotland Street)	SA	NC	1797-1837		
ARKSEY					
Wesleyan Methodist	DAD	WM	1922-1989		
ASKERN					
Wesleyan Methodist	DAD	WM	1880-1961		
ASTON					
Methodist (Aston Central formerly called Lodge Lane)	RALS	М	1954-1975		
Lodge Lane (now Aston Central Methodist Church)	RALS	М		1986-1989	
(see also SWALLOWNEST)					
ATTERCLIFFE					
Attercliffe Road (part M)	SA	WM	1835-1837	1912-1958	
Staniforth Road	SA	WM	1898-1906		

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
St Charles Borromeo	SA	RC	1867-1930	1870-1936	
St Paul, Shortridge Street	SA	UM		1920-1940	
Roundel Street	SA	М	1935-1977	1929-1974	
Princess Street	SA	WM	1868-1920		
Zion (M)	SA	1	1798-1837		
(see also CARBROOK)					
AUGHTON					
Wesleyan	RALS	WM	1876-1962		
BALBY					
Balby Road Methodist	DAD	PM	1902-1965	1971 - 2001	
Monthly Meeting (M)	DAD	SF	1646-1837	1655-1798	1655-1837
Monthly Meeting (part M)	SA	SF	1646-1914	1655-1980	1655-1914
BARNBURGH					
Methodist	RALS	М	1954-1962		
BARNSLEY					
Ardsley	SA	М		1980-1991	
Blucher Street	BALS	М		1951-1957	
Blucher Street	BALS	UM	1902-1958		
Ebenezer (M)	SA	I	1785-1830	1785-1837	
Ebenezer, Sheffield Road	BALS	UM		1914-1974	
Farrar Street	BALS	UR	1905-1972		
Heelis Street	BALS	WM		1927-1965	
Holy Rood (M)	DAD	RC	1857-1881		

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Holy Rood (M)	SA	RC	1857-1846	1853-1962	1857-1992 (deaths)
Kendray, St Joseph & the Blessed English Martyrs (M)	DAD	RC	1941-1949 [index 1857-1946]		
Lundwood	BALS	M		1932-1971	
New Street (M)	SA	NC	1797-1837		
New Street (P)	BALS	NC	1797-1837		
Pitt Street	BALS	М		1900-1945	
Pontefract Monthly Meeting (M)	SA/BALS SF		1646-1837	1659-1837	1656-1837
Regent Street	BALS	UR	1907-1970		
St Joseph & Blessed English Martyrs, Kendray	SA	RC	1941-1962		
Salem, Blucher Street (P)(M)	BALS	I	1818-1837		1834-1837
Salem, Blucher Street (M)	SA	I	1818-1837		1834-1837
Sheffield Road (P)	BALS	I	1785-1830		1785-1836
Shiloh Apostolic Church	BALS	A	1987		
Wesleyan Methodist Circuit	BALS			1925-1946	
Westgate (P)	BALS	PM	1796-1836	1925-1946	1796-1836
Westgate	BALS	PM		1925-1946	
Westgate Chapel (M)	SA	WM	1796-1836		
Wilson Place (P)	BALS	PM	1822-1837		
Wilson Place (M)	SA	PM	1822-1837		
BAWTRY					
Wesleyan Methodist	DAD	WM	1841-1907		
BEAUCHIEF					

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Baptist, Hutcliffe Wood Road	SA	В		1952-1988	
BEIGHTON					
Bethel	SA	М	1940-1944 (counterfoils only)		
Sothall	SA	WM	1885-1969		
West Street	SA	UM	1868-1970		
(see also <b>ECKINGTON</b> and <b>HANDSWORTH</b> )					
BENTLEY					
Bentley Road	DAD	M	1946-1967	1940-1980	
Cooke Street	DAD	PM	1938-1968		
High Street, later Central	DAD	WM	1876-1978	1922-1979	
Toll Bar	DAD	PM	1914-1967		
NEW BENTLEY see DONCASTER PRIORY PLACE CIRCUIT					
BESSACARR					
St Michael's Meeting House	DAD	CNOD		1972-1986	
BIRLEY CARR					
Mount Zion	SA	М	1878-1953	1934-1970	
Methodist Chapel	SA	NC	1833-1836		
BLACKBURN - see WINCOBANK					
BLAXTON					
Wesleyan Methodist	DAD	WM	1935-1964		
(see also DONCASTER PRIORY PLACE CIRCUIT)					

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
BOLTON UPON DEARNE					
Furlong Road	RALS	WM	1881-1995	2001-2002	
(see also GOLDTHORPE)	DAD(T)		1881-1930		
BRADWAY					
Methodist	SA	М	1867-1883		
BRAITHWELL					
Methodist	SA	WM		1918-1983	
Methodist	DAD	WM	1885-1992		
BRAMLEY					
Methodist	RALS	М		1938-1971	
BRAMPTON EN LE MORTHEN					
Wesleyan Methodist	RALS	WM	1813-1958		
BRIGHTHOLMLEE					
Wesleyan Methodist	SA	WM	1838-1914		
BRIGHTSIDE					
Dearne Street	SA	WM	1866-1977	1923-1975	
Fell Street	SA	PM		1915-1938	
Jenkin Road	SA	PM	1853-1956		
BRODSWORTH see DONCASTER PRIORY PLACE CIRCUIT					
BROOMHILL (SHEFFIELD)					
Broomhill UM Church	SA	ИМ		1900-1942	
Fulwood Road	SA	WM		1908-1979	

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Wesley College	SA	WM	1845-1898	1859-1895	
(see also CROOKES)					
BROOMHILL - see WOMBWELL					
BURGHWALLIS					
Burghwallis Hall, Chapel of St Helen (M)	DAD	RC	1761-1836; 1886; 1910-1935	1781; 1804- 1809	
Burghwallis Hall, Chapel of St Helen (M)	SA	RC	1761-1836	1804-1809	
St Helen's Chapel	SA	RC	1886-1935		
BURNCROSS					
Methodist	SA	М	1938-1991		
BURNGREAVE					
Andover Street	SA	М	1865-1975	1940-1975	
Burngreave Road	SA	WM		1927-1972	
Ellesmere Road	SA	WM	1865-1945	1870-1951	
Harvest Lane	SA	М	1882-1933		
Petre Street	SA	М	1868-1980	1932-1968	
St Catherine of Alexandria	SA	RC	1876-1940	1879-1951	1959-1983 (deaths)
CANKLOW					
Wesleyan	RALS	WM	1895-1917		
CARBROOK					
Bethel, later Central Hall	SA	PM		1922-1956	
Carbrook	SA	М	1867-1915		
Carbrook Street, Wesleyan School	SA	М		1928-1934	

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Clifton Street	SA	М		1962-1968	
Ebenezer Reform	SA	М	1893-1948		
(see also ATTERCLIFFE)					
CARCROFT					
Wesleyan Methodist	DAD	WM	1910-1964	1967-1994	
United Reformed	DAD	UR	1915-1978	1961-1972	
CAWTHORNE					
Wesleyan Methodist (P)	BALS	WM	1815-1837		
Wesleyan Methodist (M)	SA	WM	1815-1837		
CHAPELTOWN					
Mount Pleasant	SA	М	1839-1987	1868-1988	
CHESTERFIELD					
The Annunciation, Spencer Street	SA	RC	1835-1948	1855-1958	1854-1988 (deaths)
CLAYTON					
Methodist	RALS	М	1933-1959		
CONISBROUGH					
New Hill	DAD	PM	1922-1953	1916-1953	
Wesleyan Methodist	DAD	WM	1842-1961		
CROOKES					
Baptist, Mulehouse Road	SA	В		1909-1980	
Northfield Road, St Luke	SA	М		1927-1982	
Springvale Road	SA	C/UR		1916-1982	
(see also BROOMHILL)					

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
CROOKESMOOR					
Oxford Street	SA	UM		1917-1940	
Weston (formerly Garden) Street	SA	UM	1861-1964	1909-1963	
CUDWORTH					
Ebenezer	BALS	М	1944-1963		
John Smith Memorial	BALS	М	1911-1936		
St Mary Magdalene	SA	RC	1915-1944	1915-1957	
Whitecross Road and Darfield Road	BALS	М		1951-1963	
Whitecross Road	BALS	М	1907-1959		
DARFIELD					
George Street, Low Valley	BALS	М		1949-1958	
Methodist Chapel	SA	PM	1861-1910		
DARNALL					
Coleford (formerly Industry) Road	SA	PM	1934-1962	1917-1957	
Frederick Street	SA	UM	1871-1958		
Main Road	SA	WM		1927-1978	
Mandeville Street	SA	М		1965-1989	
Salem Independent	SA	I	1866-1937		
(see also WINGERWORTH)					
DARTON					
Station Road	BALS	PM		1925-1963	
Bethel Church, Spark Lane, Mapplewell	BALS	М		1936-1952	
Spark Lane, Mapplewell	BALS	NC		1904-1966	

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
DEEPCAR					
St Ann	SA	RC	1875-1949	1897-1964	
DENABY MAIN					
Epworth Hall (later Denaby Wesleyan Chapel)	DAD	WM	1882-1971	1925-1968	
Lowfield (T)	DAD	M	1954-1968		
Lowfield	RALS	M	1954-1968		
St Alban	SA	RC	1894-1946	1899-1918	
DINNINGTON					
Rotherham Road	SA	М		1941-1970	
Silverdale Hall	SA	Р		1939-1984	
DODWORTH					
Wesleyan Methodist Chapel	BALS	WM	1921-1988	1920-1996	
DONCASTER					
Hallgate	DAD	C, later UR	1798-1972	1864-1879	1864-1874
Hallgate	DLS	C, later UR	1798-1904 (transcript)	1798-1904 (transcript)	1798-1904 (transcript)
Hallgate (M)	SA	I	1798-1837		
Highfield Road	DAD	PM		1925-1963	
Hyde Park (see also Spring Gardens circuit)	DAD	PM	1924-1974		
National Spiritualist	DAD	NS	1929-1977	1929-1977	1929-1977
Nether Hall Road	DAD	WM		1912-1971	
Oxford Place (includes Carr Mills)	DAD	WM	1866-1970	1907-1968	
Pentecostal	DAD	Р	1972-1994		

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Plymouth Brethren	DAD	РВ		1987-1988	
Priory Place	DAD	WM	1934-1951	1849-1983	
Priory Place (M)	DAD	WM	1797-1813; 1837		
Priory Place Circuit (incl. Finningley, Moss, Blaxton, Brodsworth, New Bentley)	DAD	WM	1919-1926		
Providence, formerly Factory Lane (M)	DAD/SA	I	1814-1834		
Spring Gardens	DAD	PM	1845-1956	1912-1956	
Spring Gardens Circuit (incl. Hyde Park)	DAD	РМ	1901-1924		
St Peter in Chains (M)	DAD	RC	1835-1949	1835-1949	1835-1949
St Peter in Chains	SA	RC	1834-1949	1835-1949	1835-1977 (deaths, with gaps)
Society of Friends (see also BALBY)	SA	SF		1837-1915	1910-1940
Trafford Way Citadel	DAD	SA		1971-2003	
Unitarian (T)	DAD	U	1859-1891	1859-1893	
DRONFIELD					
Lea Road	SA	М	1936-1959		
See also <b>ECKINGTON</b>					
DUNFORD BRIDGE - see THURLSTONE					
DUNSCROFT					
Primitive Methodist	DAD	PM	1951-1966		
ECCLESFIELD					
Wallett End (from 1933 Trinity, High Street)	SA	WM	1840-1898	1910-2008	
Nether Lane	SA	PM	1877-1939		
Wesleylan Methodist	SA	WM		1898-1909	

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
ECKINGTON, Derbyshire					
Holbrook, Halfway and Eckington	SA	М	1942-1970		
Marsh Lane, Handley and Eckington (later Memorial Church)	SA	WM	1914-1962		
St Joseph, Staveley (M)	DAD	RC	1884-1942	1888; 1909- 1948	1884-1930
UM Free Chapel	SA	UM	1869-1921		
Wesleyan Chapel (includes BEIGHTON, DRONFIELD HANDLEY, MARSH LANE, MOSBOROUGH AND STAVELEY)	SA	WM	1877-1962		
EDLINGTON					
St Mary	SA	RC	1933-1948	1934-1975	
ELSECAR					
Wesleyan Chapel, Reform Row	BALS	WM		1925-1977	
Wesleyan Chapel, Reform Row	BALS	WM	1848-1979		
Congregational	BALS	С	1872-1887	1872-1960	1865-1967
ENDCLIFFE					
Greystones Road	SA	PM		1919-1961	
FENCE					
Wesleyan Methodist	RALS	WM	1894-1975		
FENWICK					
Wesleyan Methodist	DAD	WM	1908-1983	1959-1971	
FINNINGLEY					
Wesleyan Methodist	DAD	WM	1964-1974		

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
See also DONCASTER PRIORY PLACE CIRCUIT					
FISHLAKE see BALBY					
FULWOOD					
Old Chapel (Part M)	SA	I	1827-1837	1849-1873	1793,1795; 1833-1873
GAWBER					
Intake Lane	BALS		1908-1970		
Methodist School Chapel	BALS	WM		1929-1968	
GOLDTHORPE					
Church of the Sacred Heart	SA	RC	1909-1957	1910-1955	
Sacred Heart (M)	DAD	RC	1909-1949	1910-1949	
Congregational	SA	С	1926-1949		
Doncaster Road	BALS	PM		1914-1970	
Barnburgh Lane, Wesley Hall	BALS	WM		1929-1937	
Goldthorpe, Bolton and Thurnscoe	RALS	PM	1929-1950		
St Marks, Doncaster Road	RALS	M (PM?)	1950-1995		
Wesley Hall	RALS	WM	1920-1945		
GREASBROUGH					
Church Street	RALS	WM		1949-1952	
Church Street	RALS	WM	1849-1959		
Potters Hill	RALS	PM	1878-1987	1963-1968	
GREAT HOUGHTON					
Apostolic Church	BALS	А		1954-1971	
Methodist Church	BALS	М		1913-1985	

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
GREENHILL					
Wesleyan	SA	WM	1876-1955		
GRENOSIDE					
Main Street	SA	М		1959-1964	
GRIMETHORPE					
St John's Church	BALS	М		1948-1964	
GRIMESTHORPE					
Grimesthorpe Road	SA	М	1935-1972	1939-1967	
Hunsley Street Methodist Free Chapel	BALS	UM / M	1891-1949		
Wesley Hall, Wincobank Lane	SA	М		1928-1976	
HACKENTHORPE					
Spa View Road	SA	UM	1863-1992	1963-1991	
HALFWAY - see ECKINGTON and HANDSWORTH					
HANDLEY - see ECKINGTON					
HANDSWORTH					
Hall Road	SA	PM		1925-1942	
St Joseph (M)	DAD	RC	1870-1949		1923-1949
St Joseph	SA	RC	1870-1881		1923-1977 (deaths & burials)
Circuit register (incl. INTAKE, BEIGHTON, HALFWAY, HOLBROOK KILLAMARSH, and MOSBOROUGH)	SA	PM	1887-1943		,
See also WOODHOUSE					
HARWORTH (Notts)					

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Wesleyan Methodist	DAD	WM	1926-1958		
HEELEY					
Anns Road (later St Andrew)	SA	PM	1884-1987	1899-1990	
Oak Street	SA	UM	1872-1948	1910-1947	
Thirlwell Road	SA	WM	1858-1959	1872-1958	
Trinity, Broadfield Road,	SA	WM	1908-1956	1880-1904	
Valley Road	SA	UM	1898-1943	1919-1943	
HEMINGFIELD					
Methodist	BALS	М		1955-1974	
	BALS	WM	1887-1927		
HEXTHORPE					
Primitive Methodist	DAD	PM	1933-1958		
HIGH GREEN					
Potter Hill	SA	NC	1858-1964		
St Mary (M)	DAD	RC	1896-1935	1902-1947	1887-1949
St Mary	SA	RC	1896-1935	1902-1947	1887-1955 (deaths & burials)
Stoney Gate	SA	M	1940-1987	1938-1984	
HILLSBOROUGH					
The Sacred Heart	SA	RC	1904-1917	1920-1954	
Trinity Church	SA	М	1901-1964	1922-1978	
Wesleyan	SA	WM	1903-1967	1906-1967	
HOLBROOK - see ECKINGTON and HANDSWORTH					

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
HOLLINS END					
Wesleyan Chapel	SA	WM	1855-1937		
HOOBER					
Wesleyan Methodist	RALS	WM	1849-1937		
HOYLAND COMMON					
Chapel Street	BALS	NC	1880-1969		
Chapel Street	BALS	М	1939-1968		
Christ Church	BALS	WM		1913-1987	
Zion Chapel	BALS	PM		1920-1955	
Zion Chapel	BALS	PM	1868-1986		
HOYLAND NETHER					
Bethel	BALS	NC	1949-1968		
PM Circuit	BALS	PM	1908-1952		
Methodist Chapel (includes DARFIELD, WATH, WENTWORTH,WOMBWE LL, WORSBROUGH)	SA	PM	1861-1910		
Mount Tabor, King Street	BALS	PM		1907-1960	
Sacred Heart St Helen (M)	DAD	RC	1864-1900		
Sacred Heart St Helen	SA	RC	1864-1900	1870-1910	1898-1967 (deaths & burials)
Wesleyan Circuit	BALS	WM	1847-1961		
INTAKE, Sheffield					
Primitive Methodist	SA	PM	1887-1943		
KENDRAY, Barnsley					

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
St Joseph and The Blessed English Martyrs	SA	RC	1941-1956		
St Joseph and The Blessed English Martyrs (M)	SA	RC	1941-1949		
KEXBOROUGH					
Low Swithin	BALS	ИМ		1925-1962	
KILLAMARSH					
Sheffield Road	SA	PM	1946-1976		
See also HANDSWORTH					
KILNHURST					
Bethel (T)	DAD	PM	1876-1959		
Bethel	RALS	PM	1876-1960		
St Luke (T)	DAD	PM or WM	1873-1948		
St Luke	RALS	WM	1873-1939		
KIMBERWORTH, Rotherham					
Trinity	RALS	WM	1904-1996	1910-1978	
Kimberworth Park, St Andrew's	RALS	М	1963-1972		
KIVETON PARK					
Station Road	RALS	PM		1905-1978	
LAUGHTON EN LE MORTHEN					
Wesleyan Methodist	RALS	WM		1922-1967	
Wesleyan Methodist	RALS	WM	1887-1973		
LOUND see CHAPELTOWN					
LOXLEY					

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Congregational Chapel, later United Reformed Church	SA	C/UR	1799-1992	1926-1992	1816-1994
Congregational Chapel, later United Reformed Church (M)	SA	C/UR	1799-1985		1824-1986
LUNDWOOD					
Methodist	BALS	М	1955-1981		
MALIN BRIDGE					
St Mark's Chapel	SA	М	1862-1977	1918-1977	
MALTBY					
Blyth Road	RALS	WM	1907-1996	1930-1999	
Model Village, Muglet Lane	RALS	М		1939-1940	
Muglet Lane	RALS	PM	1918-1941		
Rotherham Road	RALS	PM	1922-1938		
United Reformed Church	SA	C/UR	1913-1980	1922-1978	1913-1978
St Mary Magdalene	SA	RC	1912-1937	1914-1955	
St Mary Magdalene (M)	SA	RC	1912-1937	1914-1949	
MANOR, SHEFFIELD					
Manor Lane	SA	М		1980-1981	
Prince of Wales Road	SA	М		1942-1976	
MARSH LANE, Derbyshire					
Methodist Chapel	SA	М	1918-1976		
(see also ECKINGTON)					
MASBROUGH					
College Road	RALS	PM		1909-1935	

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Independent (M)	SA	I	1758-1822		1763-1794
Independent	RALS	I	1758-1949	1880-1993	1763-1887
Masbrough Common	RALS	В	1789-1824		1791-1856
Trinity	RALS	WM	1848-1967		
Trinity, College Road	RALS	WM		1877-1968	
MEERSBROOK					
Valley Road	SA	UM	1898-1943		
MELTON WEST					
see West Melton					
MEXBOROUGH					
Brunswick Chapel, Roman Terrace	RALS	WM	1879-1961		
Brunswick Chapel, Roman Terrace (T)	DAD	WM or PM	1879-1907		
Central	RALS	PM	1955-1961		
Central (T)	DAD	WM	1955-1961		
Central	DAD	PM		1907-1959	
Doncaster Road (T)	DAD	UM	1892-1960		
Doncaster Road	DAD	UM		1910-1958	
Doncaster Road	RALS	UM	1892-1961		
Free Christian	DAD	FC	1915-1989	1916-1984 (photocopy)	1919-1940 (deaths)
Primitive Methodist Circuit (T)	DAD	PM	1865-1955		
Primitive Methodist Circuit	RALS	PM	1865-1955		
Trinity, Bank Street (T)	DAD	WM	1848-1929		
Trinity, Bank Street	DAD	WM		1943-1979	

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Trinity, Bank Street	RALS	WM	1848-1923		
Mexborough and Swinton Circuit	RALS	М	1937-1955		
MILLHOUSES					
Methodist Chapel	SA	М		1892-1916	
MOORENDS, near Thorne					
St Joseph and St Nicholas	SA	RC	1908-1947		
St Joseph and St Nicholas (M)	SA	RC	1908-1947		
MOSBOROUGH					
Queen Street	SA	М		1957-1973	
Trinity Chapel	SA	WM	1890-1963		
(see also ECKINGTON and HANDSWORTH)					
MOSS					
Wesleyan Methodist	DAD	WM	1927-1971		
See also DONCASTER PRIORY PLACE CIRCUIT					
NETHER EDGE					
Montgomery Chapel, Union Road (formerly Cherry Tree)	SA	WM	1867-1964	1875-1963	
Union Road (formerly Cherry Tree Hill)	SA	UM	1868-1923	1910-1923	
NETHERFIELD see THURLSTONE					
NEW BENTLEY see DONCASTER PRIORY PLACE CIRCUIT					
NORMANTON SPRING					
Wesleyan Methodist	SA	WM	1877-1964	1947-1963	
NORTON (formerly in Derbyshire)					

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Scarsdale Road	SA	PM		1926-1962	
Valley Road	SA	UM		1919-1943	
OLDCOATES (Notts)					
St Helen (M)	DAD	RC	1862-1920		1875-1949
St Helen	SA	RC	1862-1920	1875-1964	
St Helen (M)	SA	RC	1862-1920	1875-1949	
OUGHTIBRIDGE					
Wesleyan Methodist	SA	WM	1838-1966		
Zion (M)	SA	I	1833-1840		
OWLERTON					
Penistone Road	SA	UM		1918-1962	
Wesleyan Methodist	SA	WM	1838-1903		
Methodist New Connexion	SA	NC	1879-1963		
PARK					
Duke Street (M)	SA	WM	1833-1837		
Duke Street	SA	WM	1838-1942	1926-1940	
Wybourn Hall, Maltravers Road	SA	М		1957-1961	
PARKGATE					
Bethel, Lloyd Street	RALS	PM		1911-1939	
Bethel, Lloyd Street	RALS	PM	1876-1939		
St Pauls, Broad Street	RALS	WM	1860-1947		
Rawmarsh Hill	RALS	UM	1863-1937		
Wesleyan (?Broad Street)	RALS	WM		1910-1969	

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
PARSON CROSS					
Mount Tabor	SA	М	1938-1976	1952-1968	
PENISTONE					
Bull House Chapel	SA	M	1757-1921		
Primitive Methodist Chapel	SA	PM	1861-1873		
St Mary Roman Catholic (see DEEPCAR, St Ann Roman Catholic)					
See also PONTEFRACT and THURLSTONE					
PILLEY					
Methodist Chapel (M)	BALS	М	1899-1972		
PITSMOOR					
Pye Bank, Pitsmoor Road	SA	UM	1882-1947	1909-1941	
PLATTS COMMON					
Methodist	BALS	М	1941-1956		
PONTEFRACT					
Monthly Meeting including Barnsley and Penistone (M)	SA	SF	1646-1837 (births)	1659-1837	1657-1837
RANMOOR					
Upper Ranmoor Road, later Ranmoor Methodist Church	SA	WM		1917-1963	
RAWMARSH					
Dale Road Chapel	RALS	PM		1911-1940	
Primitive Methodist, Dale Road	RALS	PM	1876-1936		
Ryecroft	RALS	WM	1892-1985		

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Wesleyan, High Street	RALS	WM	1847-1952		
RENISHAW (Derbyshire)					
	SA	М	1901-1996		
RETFORD (Notts)					
St Joseph (M)	DAD	RC	1877-1878; 1896-1945	1899-1935	1877; 1896- 1915; 1918; 1934-1937
ROSSINGTON					
United Methodist	DAD	ИМ	1918-1958		
Christ the King (M)	DAD	RC	1930-1939		
ROTHERHAM see also KIMBERWORTH					
Bethesda, Hope Street and Tenter Street, Thornhill	RALS	NC UM	1867-1950	1929-1976	
Broom	RALS	M	1949-1992		
Church of Our Father	RALS	U	1894-1986	1894-1983	1895-1986
Church of Our Father, Moorgate	SA	U			1983
Doncaster Road	RALS	С	1867-1955	1910-1955	1870
Downs Row (T)	RALS	U	1748-1836		
Downs Row (M)	SA	U	1748-1836		
Eastwood (M)	RALS	WM	1870-1993		
Eastwood View Chapel	RALS	М		1942-1972	
Elim Pentecostal Church, Canklow Road, Westgate	RALS	Р		1975-1988	
Gerard Road (formerly Zion Chapel, Effingham Street)	RALS	UM	1874-1911	1987-1995	
Hope Street (?Bethesda)	SA	NC	1867-1928		

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Independent (M)	SA	С	1816-1837		
New Connexion Chapel (M) (Hope Street or Zion Chapel?)	SA	NC	1832-1835		
Northfield	RALS	WM	1896-1935		
Primitive Circuit (headquarters: Wellgate Methodist Church)	RALS	РМ	1843-1951		
St Bede (M)	DAD	RC	1930-1944	1849-1948	1864-1915
Wesleyan Circuit (headquarters: Talbot Lane)	RALS	WM	1811-1984		
Westgate	RALS	В		1963-1966	
Wesleyan, Chapel and Circuit (M) (Talbot Road)	SA	WM	1811-1837		
ROYSTON					
Entries included in Sheffield New Connexion register	SA	М	1797-1830		
St Matthew's Church	BALS	WM		1914-1974	
(see also SHEFFIELD Scotland Street NC)					
SCAWTHORPE					
Methodist	DAD	М	1953-1984		
SCHOLES					
Wesleyan	RALS	WM	1896-1961		
SHEFFIELD (see also specific place names)					
Bow Street (part M)	SA	NC	1826-1834		
Brunswick Chapel, South Street (later the Moor), and finally Brunswick Methodist Hall, Ellin Street. (Part M)	SA	WM	1834-1943	1843-1943	1833-1855

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Brunswick, South Street, The Moor) (part M)	SA	NC	1834-1943	1843-1943	
Brunswick Road/Lopham Street	SA	UM	1922-1969		
Cambridge Street	SA	PM		1919-1936	
Carver Street, incl. Ebenezer and Bridgehouses (part M)	SA	WM	1832-1837	1870-1994	1806-1855
Cemetery Road Chapel	SA	С	1859-1895	1869-1897	
Cherry Tree (see Nether Edge)					
City Road, Deep Pits	SA	UM	1920-1957		
Duke Street (see Park)					
East Circuit (Norfolk Street, Brunswick, Park) (M)	SA	WM	1834-1837		
Ebenezer Chapel, Bramall Lane	SA	WR	1887-1944		
Ebenezer Chapel, Ebenezer Square, Shalesmoor	SA	WM		1903-1950	
Garden Street Chapel (M)	SA	С	1804-1836		
Filey Street see Hanover Chapel					
Glossop Road Chapel	SA	В		1917-1955	
Hanover Chapel (later Filey Street)	SA	ИМ	1852-1988	1911-2003	
Holy Cross Lutheran Church, St Aidan's Avenue	SA	L		1979-1985	
Howard Street Chapel (part M)  *Compiled retrospectively from tombstones, etc.	SA	С	1780-1854	1852-1872	1795-1872
John Street Chapel	SA	PM		1899-1940	
Langsett Road	SA	PM		1914-1955	

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Lee Croft Chapel (part M)	SA	С	1785-1876		1789, 1828, 1836
Lopham Street Chapel (see Brunswick)					
Montgomery Chapel, Union Road (formerly Cherry Tree) (WM) – see Nether Edge					
Mother of God, St Wilfrid (M)	DAD	RC	1932-1942		
Mount Tabor Chapel, Wellington Street	SA	UM		1930-1936	
Mount Zion Chapel, Westfield Terrace (M)	SA	С	1835-1927	1869-1927	
Nether Chapel, Norfolk Street (M)	SA	С	1748-1971	1869-1944	1800-1871
Norfolk Street Chapel (see also East Circuit) (M)	SA	WM	1804-1835		
Petre Street	SA	М		1932-1968	
Portmahon Chapel, St Philip's Road (closed)	SA	В		1915-1947	
Queen Street Chapel (part M)	SA	С	1783-1956	1887, 1898	
St Catherine of Alexandria (M)	DAD	RC	1876-1940	1879-1949	
St Marie (part M)	SA	RC	1783-1980	1844-1942	1960-1984
St Marie (T)	SA	RC	1783-1828	1844-1970	-
St Swithun	SA	В		1996-2004	
St Vincent/Rivelin Glen	SA	RC	1853-1949	1857-1913	1862-1949 [burials to 2000 on searchroom database]
St William, Lee Croft (part M)	SA	RC	1866-1870	1870	
Shrewsbury Road	SA	UM		1919-1934	
Scotland Street Chapel (part M)	SA	NC	1797-1837		
Scotland Street Chapel	SA	UM	1858-1966	1926-1968	

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Society of Friends, Hartshead (see also BALBY)	SA	SF	1749-1921	1673-1980	1750-1926
South Street Chapel (the Moor) (part M)	SA	NC	1828-1912		
Surrey Street Chapel	SA	UM	1858-1956	1864-1956	
Talbot Street Chapel	SA	NC	1862-1962	1900-1960	
Trinity Chapel, Highfield	SA	WM		1880-1904	
Trinity Mission, Broadfield Road	SA	WM	1908-1956		
Unity Church, Crookesmoor Road	SA	U		1985-1988	
Upper Chapel, Norfolk Street (part M)	SA	U	1681-1837	1837-1851	1784-1854
Watery Street	SA	WR	1852-1939		
Weston Street (see Crookesmoor)					
SHELLEY (West Yorks)					
Bank Bottom Chapel (M)	SA	М	1787-1898		1786-1816, 1886
Independent (M)	SA	I	1795-1865		1798-1846
SHIREGREEN (Sheffield)					
Beck Road	SA	М	1937-1998		
SILKSTONE					
Entries included in Sheffield New Connexion register.	SA	М	1797-1830		
Ebenezer Wesleyan Reform Chapel	SA	М		1953-1990	
Methodist Chapel	SA	М	1861-1873		
SOTHALL see BEIGHTON					
SOUTHEY					
Southey Chapel	SA	WM	1869-1956	1956-2005	

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
SPROTBROUGH					
Sprotbrough Road	DAD	WM	1939-1975	1956-1969	
STAINFORTH					
Wesleyan Methodist	DAD	WM	1845-1929		
Wesleyan Methodist	DLS	WM	1845-1929 (transcript)		
Silver Street	DLS	PM	1920-1934 (transcript)		
Silver Street	DAD	PM	1920-1971		
STANNINGTON					
Underbank Chapel (M)	SA	I/U	1718-1837		
STAVELEY see ECKINGTON					
STOCKSBRIDGE					
Ebenezer (M)	SA	I	1829-1837		
Haywood	SA	WM		1914-1992	
Wesleyan	SA	М	1863-1901		
West End Church, Manchester Road (formerly Horner House)	SA	PM	1875-1974	1921-1973	
SUNNYSIDE					
Primitive Methodist	RALS	PM	1931-1940		
SWALLOWNEST					
Methodist	RALS	М		1988-1989	
Wesleyan	RALS	WM	1875-1943		
(see also ASTON)					
SWINTON					

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Bethany Church	RALS	No Denomination		1987-1994	
Bridge Street (T)	DAD	PM	1885-1968		
Bridge Street	RALS	PM	1885-1969		
Bridge Street	RALS	PM		1938-1966	
Piccadilly (T)	RALS	WM	1895-1986		
St John's (T)	DAD	WM	1840-1942		
St John's	RALS	WM	1850-1942		
United Reformed Church *Counterfoils only	SA	C/UR	1914- 1981* 1990-2003		
THORNE					
Centenary, South Parade	DAD	PM	1909-1970	1958-1970	
Congregational, formerly Ebenezer Independent (M	DAD	I, later C	1805-1931		
Congregational	DLS	С	1805-1931 (transcript)	1805-1931 (transcript)	1805-1931 (transcript)
Ebenezer Chapel (inc. Hatfield Chapel) (M)	SA	С	1805-1837		
High Levels (includes Thorne Bethesda and Fishlake)	DAD	MNC	1872-1957		
Moorends	DAD	WM	1899-1935		
St Joseph & St Nicholas, Moorends (M)	DAD	RC	1908-1947		
Society of Friends (see also BALBY)	SA	SF	1828-1863		1776-1938
Thorne and District Wesleyan Methodist	DAD	WM	1841-1928		
Thorne and District Wesleyan Methodist Wesleyan Methodist	DLS	WM	1841-1928 (transcript)	1841-1928 (transcript)	1841-1928 (transcript)
Unitarian (M)	DAD	U	1817-1836		1817-1837

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Unitarian	DLS	U	1813-1837 (transcript)	1813-1837 (transcript)	1813-1837 (transcript)
Unitarian (M)	SA	U	1817-1836		1817-1837
THORPE HESLEY					
Thorpe Hope	RALS	UM	1858-1986	1974-1990	
Thorpe Street	RALS	WM	1848-1992		
THRYBERGH					
Whinney Hill (M)	RALS	PM	1906-1971		
Whinney Hill (M)	RALS	WM	1907-1961		
THURCROFT					
Wesleyan Hall	RALS	WM	1915-1980	1928-1975	
Wesleyan Hall, Woodhouse Green	RALS	М		1928-1980	
THURGOLAND					
Crane Moor	SA	М	1938-1975		
Methodist Chapel	SA	М	1838-1976		
THURLSTONE					
Baptist (M)	BALS	В	1830-1837		1830-1837
Baptist (M)	SA	В	1812-1837		
Netherfield Chapel (M)	BALS	URC	1788-1837	1840-1892	1830-1890
Netherfield Chapel (M)	SA	С	1788-1837	1840-1892	1830-1890
Townhead, Dunford Bridge	BALS	М		1965-1966	
Wesleyan (part M)	SA	WM	1796-1836	1915-1975	
Wesleyan (M)	BALS	WM	1796-1836		1796-1836
THURNSCOE					

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Primitive	RALS	PM	1906-1965		
Wesleyan	DAD	WM	1896-1935		
Wesleyan (T)	RALS	WM	1896-1935		
(see also GOLDTHORPE)					
TICKHILL					
Wesleyan Methodist	DAD	WM	1837-1930		
TINSLEY					
Sheffield Road	SA	UM		1929-1964	
UPPER HAUGH					
Wesleyan	RALS	WM	1848-1966		
WADWORTH					
Wesleyan Methodist	DAD	WM	1899-1995		
WADSLEY					
Ben Lane	SA	WM	1839-1968	1920-1968	
WADSLEY BRIDGE					
Methodist Chapel	SA	М		1923-1979	
WALES (South Yorkshire)					
School Road	RALS	UM		1914-1978	
WALKLEY					
Firmount or Cundy Street	SA	UM	1866-1954	1910-1940	
Howard Road Chapel	SA	WM	1872-1964	1902-1961	
WARREN (near Chapeltown)	SA	М	1866-1981		
WATH UPON DEARNE					

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
Gorehill(T)	DAD	PM	1922-1960		
Gorehill	RALS	PM	1922-1960		
Methodist Chapel	SA	PM	1861-1910		
Trinity	RALS	WM	1914-1980		
Varney Road Evangelical Church	RALS	1		1981-1988	
Wesleyan Circuit (T)	DAD	WM	1846-1915		
Wesleyan Circuit	RALS	WM	1846-1915		
West Street Chapel	RALS	PM		1920-1959	
WENTWORTH					
Wesleyan Methodist	BALS	WM	1849-1980		
(see also HOYLAND NETHER)					
WESLEY COLLEGE CHAPEL see BROOMHILL					
WEST MELTON					
Congregational (T)	DAD	С	1882-1965	1882-1964	1882-1964
Congregational (M & T)	RALS	С	1882-1965	1882-1964	1882-1964
Independent (M)	SA	I	1795-1837		
Wesleyan(T)	DAD	WM	1881-1941		
Wesleyan	RALS	WM	1881-1941		
WHISTON					
Wesleyan	RALS	WM		1966-1992	
WICKERSLEY					
Wickersley (including Wickersley Woodside)	RALS	М	1894-1958	1955-1991	

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
WINCOBANK					
Blackburn Chapel	SA	М	1858-1972		
Meadowhall Chapel (became Wincobank Chapel in 1943)	SA	PM		1911-1960	
WINGERWORTH					
Salem Independent Chapel	SA	I	1849-1866		
(see also DARNALL)					
WINGFIELD - see SHEFFIELD Scotland Street					
Entries included in Sheffield New Connexion register	SA	М	1797-1830		
WISEWOOD					
Wisewood Chapel	SA	М		1971-1974	
WOMBWELL					
Barnsley Road	BALS	PM	1911-1921		
Cemetery Road	SA	UM	1882-1899		
Cemetery Road	BALS	UM	1900-1968		
Centenary Chapel, Broomhill	BALS	PM / M	1903-1978	1920-1983	
Hough Lane Church	BALS	М		1934-1978	
Hough Lane Wesleyan Reform Chapel	BALS	WR		1983-2002	
Park Street Wesley Chapel	BALS	WM	1863-1978	1917-1978	
St. John	BALS	UR	1953-1976	1967-1976	1967-1976
Trinity, Barnsley Road	BALS	PM		1907-1978	
(see also HOYLAND NETHER)					

Chapel	Where Available	Denomination	Baptisms	Marriages	Burials
WOODHOUSE (see also BALBY)					
Bethel Chapel	SA	PM	1943-1951	1935-1950	
St Paul, Chapel Street	SA	M	1851-1945	1930-1986	
Society of Friends, (Bishop's Transcripts) (part M) (see also Balby)	SA	SF		1837-1915	1865-1909
United Reform, formerly Independent (part M)	SA	I/UR	1823-1968	1869-1968	1852-1967
Woodhouse (now known as Trinity)	SA	WM	1850-1986	1927-1988	
WOODHOUSE MILL					
Fence Methodist Church	SA	M		1954-1985	
Methodist Chapel	SA	PM		1927-1973	
WOODLANDS - see ADWICK LE STREET					
WOODSEATS (see also HEELEY, Anns Road)					
Chantry Road Chapel	SA	М		1928-1977	
WORKSOP (Notts)					
St Mary (M)	DAD	RC	1843-1927 [transcript 1772-1843]	1856-1949	1785-1803; 1856-1917
WORSBROUGH					
Station Road	SA	WM	1947-1957	1904-1958	
Included in Hoyland Nether registers	SA	PM	1861-1910		
(see also HOYLAND NETHER)					
WORSBROUGH DALE					
Green Street Chapel	SA	М		1951-1983	
Worsbrough Dale, later Station Road	BALS	WM	1947-1957	1904-1958	
WYBOURN - see PARK					

## **Cemetery and Crematoria Registers**

With the growth of population during the 19th century, many churchyards, particularly in urban areas, became full to overflowing. To combat this problem, there was a growth in the 1830s and 1840s of private cemeteries established by bodies of shareholders.

Most of these private cemeteries were initially unconsecrated and were therefore used only by nonconformists, but in time they all obtained consecrated sections which allowed Anglicans to be buried. Later in the century many burial boards were established to create new burial grounds and these often took over the private cemeteries. The burial boards in turn were absorbed by the boroughs and urban districts that were established later in the century, although Sheffield General Cemetery remained privately owned until the end. Further municipal cemeteries were established as the need arose.

In most cases the original registers for these cemeteries are now held by the Cemeteries Dept. of the relevant Metropolitan Borough Council. Most have, however, been microfilmed and the film is available at the local record repository.

The amount of genealogical information that is given in the registers varies greatly. Later registers commonly give only the deceased's name, age, description, where died and date of burial. All registers give the reference number of the grave. This normally allows the grave to be identified on the ground and the gravestone may give additional information. In addition to the burial registers, in many instances there are also grave registers which list the names of all the persons buried in a particular grave.

The cemeteries for which microform copies or original registers are held by the four archive and local studies services are listed below.

Cemetery Name	Dates		Where Available
ADWICK - LE - STREET			
Red House Lane (indexed)	1951 - 1968	М	DAD
Windmill Balk Lane	1912 - 1968	М	DAD
ARDSLEY			
Consecrated	1886 - 1938	М	BALS/DAD/SA
ARKSEY			
Old cemetery	1885 - 1990	М	DAD
ASKERN			
	1917 - 1961	М	DAD
Register of purchased graves	1919 - 1976	0	DAD
Attercliffe - see under SHEFFIELD			
BARNSLEY			
Consecrated	1861 - 1952	М	BALS/SA
Unconsecrated	1861 - 1952	М	BALS/SA
Combined	1941 - 1966	М	BALS/SA

Cemetery Name	Dates		Where Available
BEIGHTON			
	1930 - 1998	М	SA
- index	1930 - 1996	М	SA
BOLTON - ON - DEARNE & THURNSCOE			
Combined	1891 - 1909	М	BALS
Purchased Graves Register	1929 - 1960	М	BALS
Stillborn Burials Register	1902 - 1938	М	BALS
BOLTON - ON - DEARNE			
Combined	1909 - 1974	М	BALS/DAD/SA
BRIERLEY			
	1908 - 1983 (incomplete)	М	SA
Combined	1908 - 1983	М	BALS
Register of Public Graves	1908 - 1979	М	BALS
Register of Purchased Graves	1911 - 1983	М	BALS/SA
BURNCROSS (Chapeltown)			
	1877 - 1996	М	SA
- index	1976 - 1996	М	SA

Cemetery Name	Dates		Where Available
Burngreave - see under SHEFFIELD			
CAMPSALL			
	1858 - 1962	0	DAD
New cemetery	1912 - 1961	М	DAD
Chapeltown - see under BURNCROSS			
CONISBROUGH			
Burials	1900 - 1951	М	DAD/DLS
Burials of stillborn & children under 1 month	1926 - 1980	М	DAD/DLS
Crookes - see under SHEFFIELD			
CUDWORTH			
St John's Cemetery	1895 - 1975	М	BALS/SA
DARFIELD			
	1916 - 1949	М	BALS/SA
Darnall - see under Sheffield			

Cemetery Name	Dates		Where Available
DODWORTH			
	1896 - 1978	М	BALS/DAD/SA
DONCASTER			
Hyde Park - consecrated	1856 - 1946	М	DAD/DLS
	1856 - 1994	0	DAD
- index	1937 - 1946	М	DLS
Hyde Park - unconsecrated	1856 - 1991	М	DAD
	1856 - 1991	0	DAD
	1856 - 1952	М	DLS
	1937 - 1952	М	DLS
- index	1937 - 1952	0	DAD
Rosehill - consecrated	1934 - 1954	М	DAD
Rosehill - unconsecrated	1934 - 1975	М	DAD
EAST HERRINGTHORPE – see under Rotherham			
ECCLESFIELD			
	1920 - 1996	М	SA
- index	1920 - 1996	М	SA

Cemetery Name	Dates		Where Available
ELSECAR			
Register of purchased graves	1930 - 1981	М	BALS/DAD/SA
GOOLE			
	1876 - 1901	М	DAD
GREASBROUGH			
	1900 - 1983	М	RAL
	1900 - 1982	М	SA
- index	1900 - 1927	CD	RAL
GRIMETHORPE			
Combined	1905 - 1968	М	BALS
Purchased Graves Register	1905 - 1948	М	BALS
HANDSWORTH			
	1859 - 1996	М	SA
index	1901 - 1996	М	SA
Intake Cemetery	1880 - 1996	М	SA
index	1880 - 1996	М	SA
HANDSWORTH WOODHOUSE			
Revill Lane Cemetery, Woodhouse	1875 - 1949	М	SA

Cemetery Name	Dates		Where Available
- index	1875 - 1949	М	SA
Stradbroke Road, Woodhouse	1879 - 1996	М	SA
- index	1879 - 1996	М	SA
HATFIELD			
	1886 - 1996	0	DAD
HEMINGFIELD			
	1894 - 1950	М	BALS/SA
	1894 - 1938	М	DAD
HERRINGTHORPE – see under Rotherham			
HOYLAND NETHER			
	1921 - 1953	М	BALS/SA
Still born graves	1929 - 1972	М	BALS/SA
INTAKE – see under HANDSWORTH			
KIMBERWORTH - see under MASBROUGH			
MALTBY			
	1965 - 1982	М	RAL/SA

Cemetery Name	Dates		Where Available
MASBROUGH			
St John's Cemetery	1871 - 1983	М	RAL/SA
- index	1871 - 1983	CD	RAL
MEXBOROUGH			
Old cemetery	1878 - 1931	М	DAD/DLS
New cemetery	1894 - 1938	М	DAD/DLS
MONK BRETTON			
Consecrated	1886 - 1927	М	BALS/SA
Unconsecrated	1886 - 1944	М	BALS/SA
NORTON (Sheffield)			
	1869 - 1995	М	SA
- index	1869 - 1945	М	SA
PENISTONE			
	1941 - 1956	М	DAD
	1941 - 1978	М	BALS/SA
RAWMARSH			
High Street Cemetery	1861 - 1987	М	RAL
- index	1861 - 1871	CD	RAL

Cemetery Name	Dates		Where Available
Haugh Road Cemetery	1909 - 1969	М	RAL/SA
ROTHERHAM			
Moorgate Cemetery	1841 - 1953	М	RAL/SA
- index	1841 - 1953	CD	RAL
East Herringthorpe	1953 - 1981	М	RAL/SA
Crematorium book of remembrance	1962 - 1984	М	RAL
- see also MASBROUGH			
ROYSTON			
	1923 - 1974	М	BALS/DAD/SA
SHEFFIELD			
Abbey Lane	1916 - 1996	М	SA
- index	1916 - 1996	М	SA
Attercliffe	1859 - 1960	M/C D	SA
Burngreave	1861 - 1996	М	SA
- index	1861 - 1895, 1919 - 1951, 1995 - 1996	М	SA
Cholera Burial Ground	1832	М	SA
City Road Cemetery	1881 - 1996	М	SA
- index	1881 - 1996	М	SA

Cemetery Name	Dates		Where Available
City Road Crematorium			
- index	1907 - 1996	М	SA
Crookes Cemetery	1906 - 1996	М	SA
- index	1906 - 1996	М	SA
Darnall Cemetery	1859 - 1995	М	SA
- index	1859 - 1915	М	SA
General Cemetery			
- Unconsecrated	1836 - 1978	М	SA
- index	1836 - 1881	CD	SA (also TI 33/1 for 1836 - 1857)
- Consecrated	1850 - 1978	М	SA
Hutcliffe Wood Crematorium			
- index	1974 - 1996	М	SA
Rivelin Glen (St Michael's Roman Catholic Cemetery)	1862 - 1943	M/C D	SA
- index	1862 - 1991	M/C D	SA
Shiregeen	1927 - 1996	М	SA
- index	1927 - 1996	М	SA
Wardsend	1857 - 1977	М	SA
- index	1857 - 1922	М	SA
Wisewood	1933 - 1996	М	SA
- index	1933 - 1996	М	SA
- see also Beighton, Burncross, Ecclesfield, Handsworth, Handsworth Woodhouse, Norton, Stocksbridge and Tinsley			

Cemetery Name	Dates		Where Available
SILKSTONE			
	1956 - 1981	М	BALS/SA
STAINFORTH			
	1886 - 2003	М	DAD
STOCKSBRIDGE			
	1950 - 1996	М	SA
- index	1950 - 1994	М	SA
THORNE			
	1921 - 1993	М	DAD
THURNSCOE – see also Bolton - on - Dearne			
	1902 - 1974	М	BALS/DAD/SA
TINSLEY PARK			
	1882 - 1996	M/C D	SA
- index	1882 - 1996	М	SA
WATH - UPON - DEARNE			
	1868 - 1957	М	RAL/SA

Cemetery Name	Dates		Where Available
WOMBWELL			
Combined	1868 - 1956	М	BALS/SA
Private War Graves (11 entries)	1940 - 1946	М	BALS/SA
Curators Register of Graves	1868 - 1880, 1883 - 1906	М	BALS
Woodhouse - see HANDSWORTH WOODHOUSE			

## **Monumental Inscriptions**

The term as used here includes inscriptions on wall tablets, etc. inside churches and on gravestones and memorial stones in churchyards and public cemeteries. Few outside inscriptions survive prior to the seventeenth century. From then on they become more numerous. They will always record the better off members of society as the poorest would not be able to afford a stone. There were nonconformist as well as Anglican burial grounds. The first public cemetery was opened in London in 1827 and other municipal cemeteries followed.

Gravestones are eroded by exposure to the elements or may be removed or displaced when a churchyard or cemetery is tidied up. Transcripts of the inscriptions may be the only surviving record of information which once appeared on a stone. The information will usually include the name of the deceased and date of death. It may also include age at death and occupation. Frequently several members of a family are mentioned on one stone with a record of the family relationships. A stone may give further details of ancestry and mention members of the family who are buried elsewhere. Ages on gravestones should be treated with caution as they may have been added a long time after the death of the person concerned.

This list indicates any churchyard or public cemetery for which there are transcripts of the inscriptions on the grave or memorial stones. In many cases the transcript will be accompanied by a plan of the churchyard, enabling individual graves to be easily located.

Place	Where Available
Adlingfleet, All Saints	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Adwick le Street, St Lawrence	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Adwick Upon Dearne, St John	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Airmyn, St David	BALS / DAD / DLS
Anston, St James	RAL
Ardsley, Christchurch	BALS / DAD / DLS / RAL / SA
Arksey, All Saints	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Armthorpe, St Mary's & St Leonard	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Askern, St Peter	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Attercliffe, Chapel of Ease	SA
Attercliffe, Christ Church	SA
Attercliffe, Zion Church	SA
Austerfield, St Helena	BALS / DAD / DLS
Balby, St John	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Balne, St John	SA

Place	Where Available
Barnburgh, St Peter	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Barnby Dun, St Peter & St Paul	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Barnsley, Baptist Chapel	BALS
Barnsley, St George	BALS (Restricted access to churchyard)
Barnsley, St George	BALS / SA (Churchyard extension, Pitt Street)
Barnsley, St Mary	BALS / SA
Barnsley, St Mary	BALS / SA (Churchyard extension)
Bawtry, St Nicholas	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Bolsterstone, St Mary	SA
Bolton upon Dearne, St Andrew	BALS / DAD / DLS / RAL / SA
Bradfield, St Nicholas	SA
Bradwell, Methodist	SA
Braithwell, St James	BALS / DAD / DLS / RAL / SA
Brampton Bierlow, Christ Church	RAL
Brinsworth, St George	RAL

Place	Where Available
Brodsworth, St Michael & All Angels	BALS / DLS / SA
Burghwallis, St Helen	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Cadeby, St John	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Campsall, St Mary Magdalene	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Cantley, St Wilfrid	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Cawthorne, All Saints	BALS / SA
Conisbrough, St Peter	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Crowle, St Oswald & Baptist Church	DAD
Crookes, St Thomas	SLS / SA
Dalton, Holy Trinity	RAL / SA
Darfield, All Saints	BALS / DLS / RAL / SA
Darton, All Saints	BALS / SA
Dinnington, St Leonard	RAL
Dinnington, St Leonard Old Cemetery	RAL
Doncaster, Christ Church	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA

Place	Where Available
Doncaster, Hyde Park Cemetery (microfiche)	BALS / DLS
Doncaster, St George	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Dore, Christ Church	SA
East Cowick, Holy Trinity	BALS / DLS / SA
Eastoft, St Bartholomew	DAD / DLS
Ecclesall, All Saints	SLS / SA
Ecclesfield, St Mary	SLS / SA
Edlington, St Peter	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Epworth, St Andrew	DLS
Fenwick, St John	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Finningley, St Oswald	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Firbeck, St Martin	RAL
Fishlake, St Cuthbert	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Frickley with Clayton, All Saints	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Gawber, St Thomas	BALS / SA

Place	Where Available
Gleadless, Christ Church	SA
Goole, St John the Evangelist	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Greasbrough, St Mary	RAL / SLS / SA
Harthill, All Hallows	RAL / SA
Hatfield, St Lawrence	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Haywood, All Saints	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Heeley, Christ Church	SA / SLS
Hensall, St Paul	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Hickleton, St Wilfrid	BALS / DLS / SA
High Hoyland, All Hallows	BALS / SA
High Melton, St James	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Hoyland, St Peter	SA
Hoylandswaine, St John the Evangelist	BALS
Hook, St Mary	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Hooton Pagnall, All Saints	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA

Place	Where Available
Kilnhurst, St Thomas	BALS / DAD / DLS / RAL / SA
Kimberworth, St Thomas	RAL/SA
Kirk Bramwith, St Mary	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Kirk Sandall, St Oswald	BALS / DLS / SA
Letwell, St Peter	RAL
Loversall, St Katherine	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Loxley, Congregational Chapel	SA
Maltby, St Bartholomew	RAL
Marr, St Helen	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Masbrough, Baptist Chapel	RAL
Masbrough, Independent Chapel	RAL
Masbrough, St Bede Roman Catholic	RAL
Melton West, Christ Church	BALS / SA
Mexborough, St John the Baptist	BALS / DAD / DLS / RAL / SA
Midhope, Chapel of Ease	SA

Place	Where Available
Norton, St James	SLS
Oughtibridge, Church of the Ascension	SA
Oughtibridge, Zion United Reformed Church	SA
Owlerton, Methodist	SA
Owston, All Saints	BALS / DLS / SA
Pitsmoor, Christ Church	SA
Pollington, St John the Baptist	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Rawcliffe, St James	BALS / DLS / SA
Rossington, St Michael	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Rotherham, All Saints	RAL
Rotherham, Baptist Chapel, Westgate	RAL
Rotherham, Moorgate Cemetery	RAL
Rotherham, Unitarian Chapel, Downs Row	RAL
Sheffield, Burngreave Cemetery	SA
Sheffield, General Cemetery	SA

Place	Where Available
Sheffield, St George	SLS / SA
Sheffield, St John Park	SA
Sheffield, St Marie's Catholic Cathedral	SA
Sheffield, St Mary, Bramall Lane	SA
Sheffield, St Mary, Handsworth	SA
Sheffield, St Paul, Pinstone Street	SA
Sheffield Cathedral, St Peter & St Paul	SA
Sheffield, St Phillip	SLS / SA
Sheffield, St Phillip, Wardsend Cemetery	SA
Sheffield, St Thomas, Brightside	SLS / SA
Sheffield, Brunswick Methodist	SA
Sheffield, Carver Street Methodist	SLS / SA
Sheffield, Howard Street Congregational	SA
Sheffield, Mount Zion Congregational	SA
Sheffield, Nether Chapel	SA

Place	Where Available
Sheffield, Queen Street Congregational	SA
Sheffield, Upper Chapel Unitarian	SA
Silkstone, All Saints	BALS
Skelbrooke, St Michael & All Angels	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Snaith, St Lawrence	BALSDAD / DLS / SA
Sprotbrough, St Mary	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Stainton, St Winifred	BALS / DAD / DLS / RAL / SA
Stainforth, General Cemetery	BALS / DAD / DLS
Stainforth, St Mary	DLS
Stannington, Christ Church	SA
Stannington, Quaker Burial Ground	SA
Stannington, Methodist	SA
Stannington, Unitarian	SA
Stannington, Wesleyan	SA
Swinefleet, St Margaret	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA

Place	Where Available
Swinton, St Margaret	BALS / DAD / DLS / RAL / SA
Sykehouse, Holy Trinity	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Thorne, St Nicholas	BALS / SA
Thurnscoe, St Helen	BALS / DAD / DLS / RAL / SA
Tickhill, St Mary	BALS / DLS / SA
Totley - see Dore	
Treeton, St Helen	RAL
Wadsley	SA
Wadworth, St John	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Warmsworth, Old Churchyard	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA
Wath Upon Dearne, All Saints	BALS / DAD / DLS / RAL / SA
Wentworth, Holy Trinity	BALS / DAD / DLS / RAL / SA
West Melton, Christ Church	BALS / DAD / DLS / RAL / SA
West Melton, United Reform Church	DAD / DLS / RAL
Whitgift, St Mary Magdalene	BALS / DAD / DLS / SA

Place	Where Available
Wisewood Cemetery, Loxley Road	SA
Woodhouse, Revill Lane	SA
Woodhouse, Society of Friends	SA
Woodhouse, Wesleyan Methodist	SA
Woodsetts, St George	RAL
Worsbrough, St Mary	BALS / SA

## Wills and Inventories

Although wills and probate inventories are not the first sources to which amateur genealogists will turn in search of their family history, they can be a very useful means of adding leaves to the bare branches of a family tree. A will may refer to obscure branches of the family that could never be found by searching parish registers while a probate inventory can give useful information about the testator's personal possessions and lifestyle. Not everybody left a will but a surprising number of people did. Conversely, a large number of people who might have been expected to leave a will, did not. More details about the legal and historical background to wills can be found in McLaughlin, Eve, Wills before 1858 and Somerset House Wills from 1858 (Federation of Family History Societies, 2002 and 1996) and in Gibson, J. S. W., A Simplified Guide to Probate Jurisdictions: Where to Look for Wills (Federation of family History Societies, 2002). Most books on family history contain a chapter on wills.

From the 16th to the 18th century, many wills were accompanied by a probate inventory. Made within a short period of the testator's death by a group of friends and neighbours, the inventory lists and values all the deceased's personal property, i.e. money, clothing, furniture, household, farming and trade goods and debts owing. Occasionally the furniture etc. is listed room by room which can enable the layout of the house to be reconstructed.

Before 1858 the probate of wills was the prerogative of ecclesiastical courts. The will of a testator dying with property lying within a single diocese would be proved in the appropriate diocesan court. For most of South Yorkshire that was the Diocese of York. Probate records for the Diocese of York are held at the Borthwick Institute for Archives in York <a href="https://www.york.ac.uk/library/borthwick">www.york.ac.uk/library/borthwick</a>. Indexes for the Prerogative and Exchequer Courts of York, 1731-1858, all the peculiar court probate indexes, and all the probate records before 1500 are available at <a href="https://www.origins.net">www.origins.net</a>

If he or she left property in more than one diocese within a single province, the will would be dealt with by the archbishop's court. If the property was found in both provinces (Canterbury and York), the will was proved in the Prerogative Court of Canterbury (PCC). All PCC Wills held by The National Archives (grouped in the series PROB 11), covering the period 1384 – 1858 are available on

www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/documentsonline/wills.asp. Many nonconformists and the upper classes tended to have their wills proved in the PCC, wherever their property lay. As an added complication, certain parishes or groups of parishes were ecclesiastical peculiars with their own probate courts. Several South Yorkshire parishes fell within the peculiar of the Dean and Chapter of York.

When a will was proved, the probate court retained the original will and inventory. A probate copy of the will was made for the executors and a further copy was made in the court register. The courts also granted letters of administration for the estates of persons dying intestate but these contain little genealogical information. The bulk of the pre-1858 original wills and inventories and register copy wills for South Yorkshire, including those for the Dean and Chapter peculiar, are now held at the Borthwick Institute for Archives in York as mentioned above. Full details of the Institute's holdings will be found in *A guide to the archive collections of the Borthwick Institute of Historical Research* by D.M. Smith (University of York 1973) and *A guide to genealogical sources in the Borthwick Institute of Historical Research* by C.C. Webb (University of York 1983). Printed indexes to wills and

administrations 1389-1688 were published in 16 volumes in the Yorkshire Archaeological Society Record Series and these are often available in local studies libraries. The Institute has various other printed and manuscript indexes to wills in its collections and the staff can undertake limited searches in return for a fee.

There are two small areas of the County whose pre-1858 wills are not at York. The parishes of Austerfield, Bawtry and Finningley were in the Archdeaconry of Nottingham (now Diocese of Southwell). Their wills etc. are now at the Nottinghamshire Archives Office. Wills for the former Derbyshire parishes of Beauchief, Beighton, Dore, Mosbrough, Norton and Totley (Diocese of Lichfield) are now at the Lichfield Joint Record Office.

From 12 January 1858 a civil system of probate registration came into operation with a central registry in London and a network of district registries (roughly one per county). The local probate registry retained the original will plus a registered copy and sent another copy to the Principal Registry in London. As before, a probate copy was given to the executors. The bulk of South Yorkshire fell within the district of the Wakefield Registry. Original wills proved at Wakefield 1858-1939 are now at the York District Probate Subregistry while the registered copies are at the West Yorkshire Archives (Wakefield). For the former Derbyshire parishes, such as Norton, the original wills to 1928 are at the Birmingham District Registry while the registered copies are at the Derbyshire Record Office.

Since 1858 an annual consolidated index to grants of probate and letters of administration for England and Wales has been published by HMSO. This gives the name of the deceased, date and place of death, date and place of probate and name of executor together with a valuation of the estate. Armed with information gleaned from the index, it is possible to obtain a copy of a will from the appropriate district registry, record office or from the Principal Registry. A microfiche set of the indexes for 1858-1934 is held at Sheffield Archives and sets are also held at West Yorkshire Archive Service (Wakefield) and Nottinghamshire Archives Office. Copies of all post-1858 wills and administrations for England and Wales are held at the National Archives. A small fee is charged for consultation of the records and photocopies are obtainable.

In addition to the main runs of probate records in the court and registry records, individual wills can also be found among collections of other archives. Wills often affect the descent of real property and therefore both probate copies and later lawyers' copies of wills are often found among bundles of title deeds. They may also be found among collections of family papers. Deposits made by firms of solicitors are a particularly fruitful source of wills. Such collections may contain drafts and super-seded wills which may include information that does not appear in the will as proved. It is always worth checking the personal name index at the local record office.

Annual indexes of Calendars of Grants of Probate and Letters of Administration made in the Prerogative Court of Canterbury and District Probate Registries 1853-1934 (microfiche) are available at Sheffield Archives as well as genealogical websites such as Ancestry.com.

## **Directories**

The origins of trade and street directories can be traced to the 17<sup>th</sup> century but it was not until the late 18th century that they became common and not until the 19th century that they became really useful to the family historian. The early history and development of directories has been well covered by Jane E. Norton in the introduction to her *Guide to the national and provincial directories of England and Wales excluding London, published before 1956* (Royal Historical Society, 1984).

In common with all the sources listed in this Guide, directories were not produced with the family historian in mind. They were aimed at the commercial, business and upper classes and it is these sections of society whose names are listed in them. Most of the directories listed below follow a standard format with a brief history and description of the town or village, with details of the churches, chapels, schools etc. followed by a list of the main inhabitants, often classified by occupation. From the middle of the 19th century, the directories begin to include street directories for the larger towns. By the late 19th century the entries for Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield usually comprise a street by street listing followed by an alphabetical listing (often divided into private and commercial inhabitants) and a classified listing. The entries for the smaller towns and villages normally comprise a single alphabetical listing.

When using directories for genealogical purposes, there are a number of points which should be borne in mind. At best the directories list around 40% of the households in any town or village. In the street directory sections, the fact that a particular house number does not appear may mean that the house was not built at the date of the directory or that the householder was not considered important enough to be included. In the 20th century directories the street entries are much fuller with an entry of almost every house. Women are normally only listed if they were householders in their own right or ran their own business.

The list below contains most of the directories for the South Yorkshire area that are available locally but it does not claim to be exhaustive. Some parts of South Yorkshire were originally in Derbyshire or included in neighbouring county directories such as Nottinghamshire and Lincolnshire. It is advisable to check with local studies and archive services in those counties for places on the edge of the county. Directories are only listed up to 1974, the year in which the Kelly's series ceased publication. From this date the Yellow Pages telephone directories are a useful source of information. These are available at most of the local archives and local studies services.

A number of trade directories have been digitised and are available to view on the internet via <a href="www.historicaldirectories.org">www.historicaldirectories.org</a>. These are indicated by 'WWW' in the table below. Others may also be available via <a href="http://books.google.com/books">http://books.google.com/books</a>

Date	Publisher	Title	Where Available
1774	Sketchley's	Sheffield Directory including manufacturing villages in the neighbourhood	SLS
1784	Bailey's	British Directory (Rotherham extract)	RAL
1787	Gales & Martin	Directory of Sheffield	DLS / RAL / SA / SCL / WWW
1790		Universal British Directory of Trade, Commerce and Manufacture (Barnsley section only)	BALS
1791 – 1798		Universal British Directory of Trade, Commerce and Manufacture	DLS
1791		Universal British Directory of Trade, Commerce and Manufacture	RAL
1792		Universal British Directory of Trade, Commerce and Manufacture (Sheffield, Rotherham, Chesterfield & Dronfield section only)	SLS
1793 – 1798		Universal British Directory of Trade, Commerce and Manufacture	RAL
1797	Robinson, J	A Directory of Sheffield	RAL / SLS / SA
1809 - 1811	Holden	Technical Directory of Sheffield (photocopy)	SA
1814 - 1815	Wardle & Bentham	Commercial Directory of [Lancashire, Yorkshire etc]	DLS / RAL / SLS
1816-1817	Wardle, Pratt & Pigot	Commercial Directory [of Lancashire, Yorkshire, Cheshire, Birmingham etc]	BALS / RAL / SLS
1817	Brownell, W	Sheffield General Directory	RAL / SLS
1818	Pigot, R & Dean, W	Commercial Directory for 1818-1820	BALS

Date	Publisher	Title	Where Available
1821	Gell, R & Bennet, R	Sheffield General and Commercial Directory	RAL / SA / SLS / SCL
1822	Pigot & Co	London and Provincial New Commercial Directory	BALS
1822-1823	Baines, Edward	History, Directory and Gazetteer of the County of York (two volumes)	BALS / DLS / RAL / SA / SLS / SCL / WWW
1822-1823	Pigot & Co	London and Provincial New Commercial Directory Containing Yorkshire, Manchester	BALS
1825	Gell, R	New general and commercial directory of Sheffield and its Vicinity	RAL/SA/SLS/ WWW
1828	Blackwell, J	Sheffield Directory and Guide Neighbouring Towns and Villages	RAL/SA/SCL/ SLS
1828-1829	Pigot & Co	New Commercial Directory Cumberland, Durham, Northumberland, Westmorland and Yorkshire	BALS(Yorkshire section only) / DLS / RAL / SCL / SA / WWW <sup>1</sup>
1830	Pigot & Co	Commercial Directory of Birmingham and Sheffield	SLS
1830 – 1831	Pigot & Co	National Commercial Directory Yorkshire	RAL
1832	White, William	History Gazetteer and Directory of Nottinghamshire	DLS
1833	White, William	History and General Directory Sheffield with Rotherham villages (etc) within a circuit of ten miles	BALS / DLS / RAL / SLS / SA / WWW
1834	Pigot & Co	National Commercial Directory Cumberland, Durham, Northumberland, Westmorland and Yorkshire	BALS / DLS / RAL / SA / SLS (Sheffield section only)
1837	Pigot & Co	Directory of Sheffield	SLS
1837	White, William	History and General Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	RAL / SLS

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Sheffield Archives and the WWW version relate to Yorkshire only

Date	Publisher	Title	Where Available
1837-1838	White, William	History, Gazetteer and Directory of the West Riding of Yorkshire (two volumes)	BALS / DLS / RAL / SA / SLS
1839	Robson, William	Birmingham and Sheffield Directory	SA / SLS
1841	White, William	General Directory Sheffield with Rotherham	BALS / RAL / SA / SLS
1841	Rodgers, Henry, A & Rodgers, Thomas	Sheffield and Rotherham Directory	RAL / SLS / SA
1841	Pigot & Co.	Royal National and Commercial Directory and Topography of the counties of York, Leicester & Rutland, Lincoln, Northampton, and Nottinghamto which is added	BALS (Yorkshire section on fiche) / DLS / SLS (Sheffield section) only / WWW
1843	White, William	Directory and Topography of the Borough of Leeds and the clothing district of the West Riding	BALS
1845	White, William	General Directory of Sheffield with Rotherham (and places in a twelve mile radius)	RAL/SLS/SA
1847	Slater	Directory of Northern England	DLS (Doncaster section only) / WWW
1847	White, William	Directory and topography of Leeds, Bradford and the clothing districts of the West Riding	BALS / SLS / WWW
1848	Slater	Directory of Northern England (Conisbrough, Doncaster, Thorne and Hatfield, Tickhill and Bawtry, Wath upon Dearne and Brampton Bierlow sections only)	DLS
1848	Slater (late Pigot & co)	Directory of Yorkshire	RAL
1849	White, William	General Directory of Sheffield with Rotherham (and places in a twelve mile radius)	BALS / RAL / SA / SLS / WWW
1852	White, William	General Directory of Sheffield with Rotherham (and places in a twenty mile radius)	BALS / DLS / RAL / SA / SLS / WWW

Date	Publisher	Title	Where Available
1853	White, William	Directory and Gazetteer of Leeds, Bradford, Halifax, Huddersfield, Wakefield and the whole of the clothing districts of Yorkshire	DLS / SLS
1854	Kelly & Co	Post Office Directory of Sheffield neighbouring towns	RAL/SA/SLS
1854-1855	Slater	Directory of the Northern Counties Vol. 1 Durham, Northumberland and Yorkshire	DLS / SCL / WWW
1856	White, William	General Directory Sheffield Rotherham	RAL / SA / SLS / WWW
1857	Post Office	Directory of West Riding of Yorkshire	BALS
1857	White, William	Directory of Derbyshire Sheffield	SLS
1858	Slater	Directory of Northern England (Conisbrough, Doncaster, Thorne and Hatfield, Tickhill and Bawtry, Wath upon Dearne and Brampton Bierlow sections only)	DLS
1859	Melville & Co	Commercial Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	RAL/SA/SLS
1860	White, William	General Directory Sheffield Rotherham	RAL/SLS
1861	Collinson &	Cutlers and Silversmiths of Sheffield	SLS
1861	White, Francis & Co	General and Commercial Directory Sheffield, Rotherham	RAL / SLS
1861	Kelly & Co	Post Office Directory of the West Riding of Yorkshire (Doncaster and District sections only)	DLS
1862	White, Francis & Co	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield and all the town's within twenty miles	BALS / DLS / RAL / SA / SLS / WWW
1862	Morris, J S C	Business Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	RAL/SA/SLS

Date	Publisher	Title	Where Available
1862	Drake, E S & Co	Directory of Rotherham and the adjoining parishes, townships and villages	BALS / RAL / SLS / SA
1863	Drake, E S & Co	Commercial and Trades' Directory of Sheffield	RAL / SA / SLS
1864	White, William	General Directory Sheffield and all the towns within twelve miles	DLS / RAL / SA / SLS
1865	Kelly	Post Office Directory of Sheffield	SLS
1865	White, William	Directory Sheffield with Rotherham	RAL
c. 1866		Doncaster Directory	DLS
1866	White, W	Directory of Leeds, Bradford, Huddersfield	WWW
1867	White, William	Directory of Hull, Grimsby, Beverley in the East Riding of Yorkshire	DLS
1867	Kelly & Co	Post Office Directory of the West Riding of Yorkshire	DLS / RAL
1868	White, William	Directory Sheffield, Doncaster Rotherham	RAL / SA / SLS
1870	White, William	Directory of Leeds, Bradford, Huddersfield, Halifax, Wakefield, Dewsbury, Batley, Keighley, Bingley, Ilkley, Otley, Skipton, Todmorden, Holmfirth, Saddleworth, and all the parishes and villages in and near those populous districts of the West Riding forming the great seats of the woollen and worsted manufactures	WWW
1871	White, William	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield boroughs within a distance of twenty miles Rotherham	BALS / RAL / SA / SLS
1871		Post Office Directory of the West Riding	SCL

Date	Publisher	Title	Where Available
1871-1872	White, Francis & Co	General and Commercial Directory Sheffield	BALS / DLS / RAL / SLS
1872	White, Francis & Co	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	RAL / SLS
1876	Post Office	Directory of Yorkshire	SCL
1876	White, William	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield (Bolsterstone, Rotherham Bolton upon Dearne, Bradfield, Dalton, Darfield, Deepcar, Edlington, Elsecar, Gleadless, Hoyland Nether, Midhope, Mosbrough, Tankersley, Thorpe Hesley, Throapham, Wombwell, Woodhouse, Worrall, Wortley only)	BALS / RAL / SA / SLS
1877	Kelly & Co	Post Office Directory of West Yorkshire	DLS (Doncaster and district sections only) / RAL
1878	Kelly & Co	Directory of the West Riding of Yorkshire	BALS / DLS
1879	White, William	Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham, Barnsley and within a twelve mile radius from Sheffield	BALS / SLS / WWW
1881	Kelly & Co	Directory of the West Riding of Yorkshire	RAL / SLS / SCL / WWW
1881	Kelly & Co	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	RAL / SLS
1883	Kelly & Co	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	RAL / SLS
1884	White, William	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	SA / SLS / RAL
1884	Hulley, J	Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham & neighbourhood	SLS
1887	Slater, I	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS

Date	Publisher	Title	Where Available
1887	Slater, I	Directory of Rotherham and Masbrough	RAL
1888	Kelly & Co	West Riding (Barnsley extract only)	BALS
1889	White, William	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield	SLS
1889	Kelly & Co	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS
1889	Kelly & Co	Directory of the West Riding of Yorkshire	BALS (Barnsley extract only) / DLS (Doncaster extract only)
1890	Kelly & Co	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	RAL/SLS
1890		The Doncaster Professional Directory and Almanack	DLS
1891	White, William, Ltd	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham radius of seven miles	RAL / SLS
1891	Doncaster Gazette	The 'Gazette' Commercial and General Doncaster Directory	DLS
1891	Slater, I	Directory of Rotherham, Masbrough and District	RAL
1893	Kelly & Co	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS
1893	Kelly & Co	Directory of the West Riding of Yorkshire	DLS / RAL
1893-1894	White, William	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS
1893-1910	Doncaster Gazette	The 'Gazette' Commercial and General Doncaster Directory	DLS / SA (1895 only)

Date	Publisher	Title	Where Available
1895	Pawson & Brailsford	Sheffield City Directory	SLS
1895-1896	White, William, Ltd	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	RAL
1896	Pawson & Brailsford	Sheffield City Directory	SLS
1896	White, William	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS / SA
1898	Town & County Directories Ltd	Sheffield & District Trades Directory	SLS
1898	Kelly's Directories Ltd	White's General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	RAL / SLS
1900	Pawson & Brailsford	Sheffield City Directory	SLS
1900	Deacon, William & Co., London	Court Guide and County Blue Book of the West Riding of Yorkshire	DLS
1900	Kelly's Directories Ltd)	White's General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	SA / SLS
1901	Kelly's Directories Ltd.	White's General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	RAL / SLS / WWW
1901	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of the West Riding of Yorkshire	BALS / RAL
1901	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Leeds and Bradford	RAL
1901	Town & County Directories Ltd	Sheffield & District Trades Directory	RAL / SLS
1901-1902	Town & County Directories Ltd	Sheffield & District Trades Directory	SLS

Date	Publisher	Title	Where Available
1902	Robinson, J & D	Barnsley Directory	BALS / SA
1902	Kelly's Directories Ltd.	White's General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	SLS / SA
1902-1903	Town & County Directories Ltd	Sheffield & District Trades Directory	SLS
1903	Kelly's Directories Ltd.	White's Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	RAL/SLS
1904	White (Kelly's Directories Ltd.)	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	SLS / WWW
1904	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of West Riding of Yorkshire	RAL
1904-1905	Town & County Directories Ltd	Sheffield & District Trades Directory	SLS
1905	Kelly's Directories Ltd.	White's Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	RAL / SLS / WWW
1905	Robinson, J & D	Barnsley Directory	BALS
1906	White (Kelly's Directories Ltd)	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield Rotherham	SA / SLS
1906-1907	Town & County Directories Ltd	Sheffield and District Trades Directory	RAL
1907	White (Kelly's Directories Ltd.)	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	SLS
1907-1908	Town & County Directories Ltd	Sheffield & District Trades Directory	SLS

Date	Publisher	Title	Where Available
1908	Kelly's Directories Ltd.	Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	RAL / SLS
1908	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of West Riding of Yorkshire	DLS (Doncaster and District sections only) / RAL
1909	White (Kelly's Directories Ltd.)	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	SLS
1893-1910	Doncaster Gazette	The 'Gazette' Commercial and General Doncaster Directory	DLS / SA (1895 only)
1910	White (Kelly's Directories Ltd.)	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	SLS
1911	White (Kelly's Directories Ltd)	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	RAL / SLS / WWW
1912	Kelly's Directories Ltd	White's Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	RAL / SLS
1912	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of the West Riding of Yorkshire	BALS / RAL
1912-1913	Doncaster Gazette	The 'Gazette' Commercial and General Doncaster Directory	DLS
1913	Kelly's Directories Ltd	White's Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	RAL / SLS
1914	White (Kelly's Directories Ltd.)	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	SLS
1914-1915	Doncaster Gazette	The 'Gazette' Commercial and General Doncaster Directory	DLS
1915	White (Kelly's Directories Ltd.)	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	SLS

Date	Publisher	Title	Where Available
1916	Kelly's Directories Ltd.	White's Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	RAL / SLS
1917	White (Kelly's Directories Ltd.)	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	SLS
1917	Kelly's Directories Ltd.	Directory of West Riding of Yorkshire	DLS / RAL
1919-1920	White (Kelly's Directories Ltd)	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS / SA
1920	Doncaster Gazette	The 'Gazette' Doncaster Directory and Year Book	DLS
1921	White (Kelly's Directories Ltd.)	General and Commercial Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	SLS / SA
1922	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SA / SLS / SCL / RAL (Rotherham and suburbs only)
1922	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of West Riding of Yorkshire	BALS / RAL / SLS / SCL
1923	The Doncaster Chronicle	Year Book and Street Directory	DLS
1923	Doncaster Gazette	The 'Gazette' Doncaster Directory and Year Book	DLS
1923	White (Kelly's Directories Ltd)	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS
1924	White (Kelly's Directories Ltd)	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS / RAL (Rotherham and Suburbs section only)
1924 – 1925	Town & Country Directories Ltd	Sheffield & District Trades Directory	SA

Date	Publisher	Title	Where Available
1925	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	RAL / SLS
1926	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS / RAL (Rotherham and Suburbs section only)
1926-1927	Town & County Directories Ltd	Sheffield & District Trades Directory	SLS
1927	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Post Office Directory of West Riding of Yorkshire	BALS / RAL / SA / SCL / DLS
1927	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS / RAL (Rotherham and suburbs section only) / BALS (Barnsley section only)
1927 – 1928	Town & Country Directories Ltd	Sheffield & District Trades Directory	SA
1928	Doncaster Chronicle	The 'Chronicle' Doncaster Year Book and Street Directory	DLS
1928	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS / RAL
1928-1929	Town & County Directories Ltd	Sheffield & District Trades Directory	SLS
1929	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SA / SLS / RAL (Rotherham and suburbs section only)
1930	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS / RAL
1931	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS / RAL (Rotherham and suburbs section only)

Date	Publisher	Title	Where Available
1932	Doncaster Chronicle	The 'Chronicle' Doncaster Year Book and Street Directory	DLS
1932	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SA / SLS / RAL (Rotherham and suburbs section only)
1933	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS / RAL (Rotherham and suburbs section only)
1934	Doncaster Chronicle	The 'Chronicle' Doncaster Year Book and Street Directory	DLS
1934	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Doncaster	SCL
1934	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS / RAL
1935	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SA / SLS / RAL
1936	Doncaster Chronicle	The 'Chronicle' Doncaster Year Book and Street Directory	DLS
1936	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	RAL / SA / SLS
1936	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of West Riding of Yorkshire	BALS / DAS / DLS / RAL / SA / SLS / SCL
1937	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS / RAL
1937-1938	The Yorkshire Post	Year Book and Street Directory of Barnsley	BALS
1937-1938	Town & County Directories Ltd	Sheffield & District Trades Directory	SLS
1937	Wrigley	Wrigley's Thorne Almanac and Directory	DLS

Date	Publisher	Title	Where Available
1938	Wrigley	Wrigley's Thorne Almanac and Directory	DLS
1938	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS / RAL
1938-1939	Doncaster Chronicle	The 'Chronicle' Doncaster Year Book and Street Directory	DLS
1939	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS / RAL (Rotherham and Suburbs section only)
1939	Lockwood	Lockwood's List and Hexthorpe Street Guide	DLS
1940	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS / SA / RAL (Rotherham and Suburbs section only)
1941	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS / SA / RAL
1942	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SLS
1944	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SA / SLS / RAL (Rotherham and suburbs section only)
1948	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	SA / SLS / RAL
1949-1950	Town & County Directories Ltd	Sheffield and District Trades' Directory	SA
1951	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	RAL / SA / SLS
1951-1952	Town & County Directories Ltd	Sheffield & District Trades Directory	SLS

Date	Publisher	Title	Where Available
1953	Kent Service Ltd	Doncaster Directory	DLS
1954	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	RAL / SA / SLS
1956-1957	Town & County Directories Ltd	Sheffield and District Trades' Directory	RAL / SLS
1957	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	RAL / SA / SLS
1957	Doncaster Chamber of Commerce	Doncaster Directory	DAD / DLS
1958-1959	Town & Country Directories Ltd	Sheffield and District Trades' Directory	RAL / SLS
1959	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	RAL / SA / SLS
1960	Barretts Publications Ltd	Rotherham Directory	RAL
1961	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	RAL / SA / SLS
1961	Barrett's Publications Ltd	Barnsley County Borough Directory	BALS
1961	Doncaster Chamber of Commerce	Doncaster Directory	DAD / DLS
1962	Chamber's Trade Registers & Directories Ltd	Chambers' Trades Register of Yorkshire	DLS
1962	Barrett's Publications Ltd	Barnsley County Borough Directory	BALS

Date	Publisher	Title	Where Available
1963	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	RAL / SA / SLS
1963	Auburn, Leeds	Northern Trades & Commercial Directory: Leeds and Sheffield Area	DLS
1965	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield, Rotherham	RAL / SA / SLS
1967	Town & County Directories Ltd	Sheffield and District Trades Directory	RAL
1967	Blair Publications Ltd	County Borough of Doncaster Directory	DLS
1968-1974	Kelly's Directories Ltd	Directory of Sheffield and Rotherham	RAL / DLS (not 1968, 1969, 1971) / SLS / SA (not 1972)
1970	Trades Directories Ltd	North Eastern Counties of England Trade Directory	DLS
1973	Chambers	Trade Register of Yorkshire, Northumberland and Durham	DLS

#### **Electoral Registers and Poll Books**

Although electoral registers cannot be claimed to be primary genealogical sources, they have their uses for the family historian. In the period before universal male suffrage, the registers give an indication of the status of the people listed in them. They can also be useful for tracing families who have moved.

Prior to the 1832 Reform Act, Yorkshire returned two members to Parliament. Those claiming the right to vote had to appear in person on polling day, prove their claim and cast their votes in public. No registers were kept of persons entitled to vote. The votes cast by each elector were recorded in a manuscript poll book. Unfortunately almost all the manuscript poll books were destroyed in 1907. Luckily it was normal, after an election, for the poll book to be published.

The poll books list the votes cast by each voter but do not list those who were entitled to vote and did not bother to travel to the poll town. One result of the 1832 Act was that electoral registers had to be compiled, as only those people whose names appeared in the register were entitled to vote. Poll books continued to be published until the secret ballot was introduced in 1872.

Different qualifications to vote applied for counties and boroughs for different periods. Following the 1832 Reform Act anyone having a life interest in and occupying land or tenements over £2 and under £5 was eligible, as were all other holders of real property worth at least £10 (reduced to £5 in 1867) for the counties. In boroughs occupiers or tenants of buildings worth at least £10 p.a. were given the right to vote provided they had occupied the property for at least 12 months before registration.

The number of those who were entitled to vote was further increased by the reform acts of 1867 and 1884. Universal male suffrage was introduced by the reform act of 1918 which also extended the franchise to most women over 30. Adult female suffrage finally arrived in 1928. Electoral registers were compiled annually, except 1916 - 1917 and 1940 - 1944 (when there were none) and 1919 - 1926 and 1945 - 1949 (when there were Spring and Autumn registers).

Further details about the background to and development of registers will be found in J Gibson, J. and C. Rogers, *Electoral Registers Since 1832* (Federation of Family History Societies, 1990).

The 1832 Act constituted the West Riding (outside a number of parliamentary boroughs) as a single constituency, returning two members. In 1865, the West Riding was divided into Northern and Southern Divisions, each returning two members. The Southern Division was in turn divided in 1885 to create eight single member constituencies, of which four concern South Yorkshire:- Barnsley; Doncaster; Hallamshire (including Sheffield); Rotherham. In 1918 Barnsley, Rotherham and Sheffield became borough constituencies, with the rest of South Yorkshire divided between various county constituencies. Doncaster became a county constituency in 1949. Parliamentary boroughs compiled their own electoral registers while the registers for county constituencies were drawn up by the West Riding. For this reason, many of the early registers are not held locally but are at the West Yorkshire Archive Service (Wakefield).

From 1974 the South Yorkshire registers became the responsibility of the four metropolitan borough councils

A distinction should be drawn between electoral registers and burgess rolls. The latter relate to the right to vote in borough council elections, the franchise for which was rather larger than that for parliamentary elections. Unmarried women could qualify to vote in municipal elections from 1869.

Before 1884 registers are usually in alphabetical order. After that date they are normally in street order which makes it difficult to find a particular person unless the address is known. Before 1915 there were several ways in which it was possible to qualify to vote and the register indicates the qualification.

Many poll books are now available to view via GoogleBooks. These are indicated on the list below.

#### A. POLL BOOKS

#### 1.1 Yorkshire

1727 SA

1734 DAD/SA

1741-2 SA/BALS/DLS/RAL (reprint only)

1784 SA

1807 BALS/DLS/RAL/SA. Also available via Googlebooks:

http://books.google.com/books?id=M8AHAAAAQAAJ&dq=electors%20sheffield&pg=RA1-PA30#v=onepage&q=electors%20sheffield&f=false

#### 1.2 Yorkshire, West Riding

1809	BALS/S	SLS/SA	(election	of Registrar	of Deeds)
4047	D 4 I O	,	1244	`	

1817 BALS ( -ditto-

1832 Available via Googlebooks:

http://books.google.com/books?id=M8AHAAAAQAAJ&dq=electors%20sheffield&pg=RA1-PA30#v=onepage&q=electors%20sheffield&f=false

- 1835 BALS (Barnsley area only)/DLS/SA/SLS (Sheffield area only)/RAL (reprint)
- 1837 BALS/SLS
- BALS (Barnsley area only)/DLS/RAL/SLS/SA. Also available via Googlebooks: <a href="http://books.google.com/books?id=M8AHAAAAQAAJ&dq=electors%20sheffield&pg=RA1-PA30#v=onepage&g=electors%20sheffield&f=false">http://books.google.com/books?id=M8AHAAAAQAAJ&dq=electors%20sheffield&pg=RA1-PA30#v=onepage&g=electors%20sheffield&f=false</a>
- 1842 BALS (election of Registrar of Deeds)

1848 BALS/RAL/SLS also available via Googlebooks:

http://books.google.com/books?id=M8AHAAAAQAAJ&dq=electors%20sheffield&pq=RA1-PA30#v=onepage&q=electors%20sheffield&f=false

1859 DLS/RAL

# 1.3 Yorkshire, West Riding (South)

1865 SLS also available via Googlebooks:

http://books.google.com/books?id=M8AHAAAAQAAJ&dq=electors%20sheffield&p

g=RA1-PA30#v=onepage&q=electors%20sheffield&f=false

**BALS** 1868

#### 1.4 Sheffield

1832 SLS/SA 1835 SLS 1852 SLS 1857 SLS

#### B. ELECTORAL REGISTERS

The list below gives the various constituencies that have fallen wholly or partly within the area of South Yorkshire since 1832 with an indication of where the registers may be seen. Some constituencies have borne the same name since 1918 but in most cases the boundaries will have been altered in 1949 and 1983. In 1983 some of the new constituencies were given the names of constituencies that had existed 1918 - 1949 (cf. Wentworth) but the boundaries are usually completely different.

Note also that constituency boundaries are not revised at the same time as local authority ward boundaries which can lead to some confusion. For example Sheffield's holdings include Stocksbridge, South Wortley, Chapel Green and Penistone wards for 1975/6 and 1976/7

BC = Borough Constituency CC = County Constituency

#### 1. Burgess Rolls

1.1 Barnsley	1869;1871;1877;1879 - 1914	BALS
1.2 Doncaster	1887/8 1844 - 1915	DLS DAD
1.3 Rotherham	1911	RAL
1.3 Sheffield	1841/2, 1843, 1843/4, 1851, 1852, 1853, 1854, 1861, 1864/5, 1870/71, 1872/3, 1874/5 - 1876/7, 1878, 1879/80, 1880/1 - 1914/15	SLS

#### 2. Electoral Registers 1832 - 1915

2.1	West Riding	1840 - 1865	WYAS

2.2 West Riding, Barnsley Division	1885 - 1915 1899 - 1908, 1910 - 1915	WYAS BALS
2.3 West Riding, Doncaster Division	1885 - 1915 1899 -1915	WYAS DLS (microfiche)
2.4 West Riding, Hallamshire Division	1885 - 1915	WYAS
2.6 West Riding, Holmfirth Division	1885 - 1915	WYAS
2.7 West Riding, Rotherham Division	1885 - 1915 1910 - 1913	WYAS RAL
2.8 West Riding, Southern Division	1865 - 1885 1872 - 1873	WYAS BALS
3. Electoral Registers 1918 - date		
3.1 Barnsley Central BC	1974 - date	BALS
3.2 Barnsley East BC	1974 - date	BALS
3.3 Barnsley West and Penistone CC	1974 - date	BALS
3.4 Barnsley BC	1918 - 1974	BALS
3.5 Dearne Valley CC	1949 - 1975 1949 - 1971 1971 - 1984	WYAS DLS (microfilm) RAL (part only)
3.6 Doncaster CC	1918 - 1974 1918 <i>-</i> 1965 <sup>1</sup>	WYAS DLS
3.7 Doncaster BC	1945 - 1973 <sup>1</sup>	DLS
3.8 Doncaster Central BC	1974 - date	DLS
3.9 Doncaster North CC	1984 - date	DLS
3.10 Don Valley CC	1918 - 1975 1918 - 1973 <sup>2</sup>	WYAS DLS

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Some gaps <sup>2</sup> Some gaps. Some on microfiche, some in book form.

	1973 - 1974	RAL
3.11 Goole Division	1949 - 1971	DLS (microfilm)
3.12 West Riding, Hemsworth Division	1918 - 1926	BALS
3.13 Hemsworth CC	1920 - 1986	WYAS
3.14 Penistone CC	1918 - 1975	WYAS
3.15 Rotherham BC	1918 - date	RAL
3.16 Rother Valley CC	1918 - 1975 1945 - date	WYAS RAL
3.17 Sheffield Attercliffe BC	1920 - date <sup>*</sup>	SLS
3.18 Sheffield Brightside BC	1920 - date <sup>*</sup>	SLS
3.19 Sheffield Central BC	1920 - 1948/9 <sup>*</sup> 1984/5 - date	SLS SLS
3.20 Sheffield Ecclesall BC	1920 - 1948/9 <sup>*</sup>	SLS
3.21 Sheffield Hallam BC/CC	1920 - date	SLS
3.22 Sheffield Heeley BC	1949/50 - date	SLS
3.23 Sheffield Hillsborough BC	1920 - date <sup>*</sup>	SLS
3.24 Sheffield Neepsend BC	1949/50 - 1954/55	SLS
3.25 Sheffield Park BC	1920 - 1983/4 <sup>*</sup>	SLS
3.26 Wentworth CC	1918 - 1949	WYAS
Other	1984 - date	RAL
Absent Voters List	1918 - 1926 1928 - 1939	BALS BALS
Rotherham Borough Constituency	1918	RAL
Combined English Universities Constituency (includes University of Sheffield)	1944, 1947	SA

some gaps in the 1920s Some gaps in the 1920s

#### Other Sources

The various sources listed above are the main (local) sources used for the study of family history. There are, however, a number of other categories of documents from which genealogical information can be gleaned.

#### Census Returns

The 19th and early 20<sup>th</sup> century census returns are a treasure house of genealogical information and an invaluable aid to the family historian. For reasons of confidentiality, the returns are only available to the public when they are 100 years old. Therefore, the latest census that is currently available is that for 1911.

From 1851 the Census returns list every person in every household in every town, village and hamlet with details of relationships, ages, occupations and places of birth. The 1841 census is less helpful in that relationships are not stated, adult ages are rounded down and the exact place of birth is not given. Finding your family in the census returns can save hours (or days) of searching through parish registers. The use of census returns in family history research is well covered by the many family history text books.

The original census returns are in at The National Archives, however they are all available to research on the major genealogical websites such as <a href="https://www.ancestry.com">www.findmypast.com</a> <a href="https://www.bmdindex.co.uk">www.bmdindex.co.uk</a>, <a href="https://www.genesreunited.co.uk">www.genesreunited.co.uk</a>. Ancestry.com is available for free in every library in South Yorkshire.

Microfilm copies are also available. The library service or archive repository for each metropolitan district in South Yorkshire holds microfilm of the census returns for their own area. In Barnsley and Doncaster the microfilm for 1841-1901 are held at the Central Library. Rotherham Archives and Local Studies holds the film for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 1841 - 1901. Sheffield Archives hold films for the whole of South Yorkshire 1841- 1881, while Sheffield Local Studies Library, has the whole county for 1881 and Sheffield and the surrounding area 1841 - 1901. More detailed information about holdings is available from the repository concerned.

#### Births, Marriages and Deaths

Records of the civil registration of births, marriages and deaths from 1837 for the four metropolitan districts of south Yorkshire are held by the Register Offices in Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield. It is not possible to search the registers in person but copies of certificates may be purchased. The Register Office staff will require fairly accurate details (date, place etc.) before a certificate can be found.

Copies of the registers for the whole country are held at the National Archives in London, however, many local archives and library services have microfilm copies of the indexes and, in addition, the indexes are available on the major genealogical websites such as <a href="www.ancestry.com">www.ancestry.com</a>, <a href="www.findmypast.com">www.findmypast.com</a> www.bmdindex.co.uk, <a href="www.ancestry.com">www.findmypast.com</a> www.genesreunited.co.uk, and <a href="www.192.com">www.192.com</a>

Ancestry.com is available for free at all libraries and archives services in South Yorkshire.

### Civil Parish Records

These comprise the records of the civil administration of the parish in the days before the modern system of local government was introduced in the late 19th century. The records of the parish officers (overseers, constables and surveyors of the highways) can contain much that is useful to the family historian. The records of the overseers of the poor can be particularly fruitful e.g. settlement certificates and examinations, bastardy bonds, poor rate assessment, accounts of money paid to paupers, parish apprenticeships etc. It is often a matter of chance whether any civil parish records have survived for a particular parish. Those that have survived are normally deposited in the appropriate diocesan record office together with the ecclesiastical parish records (see the section on parish registers above). In some cases the civil parish material has become separated from the ecclesiastical records and may be deposited elsewhere (e.g. civil parish records for Greasbrough and Brampton Bierlow are deposited at Rotherham).

#### Court Records

Quarter Sessions court dealt with relatively minor crime such as robbery, issuing counterfeit coins, assault, petty theft as well as disputes about settlement and bastardy, licensing of public houses etc.

Records of Doncaster Quarter Sessions (from the 16<sup>th</sup> century) are available at Doncaster Archives Department.

Sheffield held its own Quarter Sessions Court from 1864 - for further information see <a href="http://www.sheffield.gov.uk/libraries/archives-and-local-studies/what-collections-do-we-have/court-of-quarter-session-records">http://www.sheffield.gov.uk/libraries/archives-and-local-studies/what-collections-do-we-have/court-of-quarter-session-records</a>

Prior to 1864 cases were held at the West Riding Court of Quarter Sessions the records of which are held by the West Yorkshire Archive Service (Wakefield). For more details see Barber, B. J., *Guide to the quarter Sessions records of the West Riding of Yorkshire 1637-1971* (West Yorkshire Archive Joint Committee, 1984). More serious criminal cases, which could result in hanging or transportation, were heard by the Assize Court at York. Surviving records for this Court are at the National Archives in London. Records of lesser courts (Magistrates Courts, County Courts) are now often held by local

archive services. These courts deal with minor criminal offences and small debt cases and their records contain little of genealogical value.

#### Title Deeds

Title deeds can often contain hidden genealogical material in the form of references to wives, husbands and ancestors. All the archive services in South Yorkshire hold deposits of title deeds but their usefulness from the family history point of view will depend on the extent to which the names in the deeds have been indexed. The records of the West Riding Registry of Deeds are held at the West Yorkshire Archive Service (Wakefield). The deed registers contain memorials (short summaries) of virtually all the deeds relating to land within the West Riding (except copyhold land and short leases) between 1704 and 1970.

#### Military Records

Family historians with ancestors who served in the armed forces may be able to trace their careers at the National Archives at Kew. TNA hold records relating to the Army (soldiers discharged before 1913), Royal Navy (to c.1890) and Royal Marines (to 1940).

The York and Lancaster Regimental Museum and Archive is based in Rotherham Central Library.

# **Computing and Internet Facilities**

Free Internet access is available in all of the archives and local studies services at Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield.

In addition the following facilities are available:

Ancestry.com Free access to census returns for the whole of England and Wales 1841 – 1901 and Scotland for 1901, General Register Office indexes, some parish registers and records. 4 billion names are currently available online (internet).	All SY libraries and Archives
<ul> <li>www.thegenealogist.co.uk</li> <li>England and Wales census returns 1841-1901</li> <li>BMD Index 1837-2005</li> <li>Military records – includes Army and Navy lists and World War I &amp; II deaths.</li> <li>Parish registers – limited number of Parishes available, listed on site. Can print copies of Baptism, Marriage and Burial records.</li> <li>Non-conformist &amp; Non Parochial records</li> <li>Circa 1911 – directories and records for 1911 and years around</li> <li>Directories</li> <li>School, College &amp; University registers – search under county</li> <li>Roll of Honour records – British servicemen in World War I &amp; II</li> <li>Military, Landowner &amp; Electoral roll records</li> <li>Wills, Probates &amp; Testaments</li> </ul>	DAD / DLS
National Burial Index (NBI) 13 million names 1538 – date (CD-ROM)	SA / BALS / DLS
Soldiers who died in the Great War 1914-1918 (CD-ROM) Details of 37,000 officers and 665,000 other ranks.	BALS / DLS / SA / RAL / RRI
Army Roll of Honour – World War II Public Record Office (CD-ROM) Details of those killed (all ranks) during the Second Word War.	BALS / DLS / RAL / RRI
1881 British Census Index (Latter Day Saints)	BALS / DLS / RAL

West Riding of Yorkshire census returns, 1841 (CD-ROM)	BALS / DLS / SA / SLS
1851 Census for Bradford (CD-ROM)	BALS
Devon, Norfolk and Warwickshire census returns, 1851 (CD-ROM)	BALS / SA
Familysearch (International Genealogical Index c. 1999/2000) (now available on the internet at www.familysearch.org)	BALS / DLS / RAL / SA / SLS
(Family Search) Vital Records Index (1998/2001) (CD-ROM)	BALS / DLS / RAL / SA
Family Search Family History Library Catalogue (CD-ROM)	BALS
Family Search Family History Source Guide (CD-ROM)	BALS
Federation of Family History Societies (FFHS) vouchers	BALS
1901 census pay-per-view vouchers	BALS
Find My Past vouchers	BALS / RAL / SA / SLSL
Parish Finder for England: Database listing all parishes, chapels & extra parochial areas to 1974. (CD-ROM)	RAL
Index to Change of Names 1760-1901 (CD-ROM)	BALS / RAL

1900/1901 Telephone Book for Yorkshire and the Northern Province (CD-ROM)	BALS / DLS
British 19 <sup>th</sup> Century Surname Atlas (Guild of One Name Studies, 2003) (CD-ROM)	BALS

The following services are available to members of Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield Libraries 24 hours a day via the relevant library service website.

#### **KnowUK**

Online reference database providing access to over 100 titles, including Hutchinson Encyclopaedia of Britain, Debrett's People of Today, Educational Grants Directory, All-Time Greats of British and Irish Sport, Willings' Press Guide, Writers' and Artists' Yearbook, and various Which? Guides.

# **Oxford Dictionary of National Biography**

An illustrated collection of more than 50,000 biographies of men and women who shaped all aspects of Britain's past, from the 4th century BC to 2001, including over 10,000 portrait illustrations

# **Oxford English Dictionary**

Includes extensive search options and traces the evolution of more than 600,000 words from the last 1,500 years through 2.5 million quotations from a wide range of sources - from classic literature and periodicals to film scripts and pop songs.

#### Oxford Reference Online: Premium Collection

The 1 million entries include over 2,000 key events of the 20th century, 500+ colour maps and flags, over 2,600 weblinks and over 12,000 images.

#### **Xreferplus**

A giant online reference library providing electronic access to a selection of reference books, including encyclopaedias, dictionaries and thesauri.

#### **PN Enquire**

Free 24 hours, 7 days a week online service that enables anyone to ask a question at any time day or night, so people do not need to wait until their local library opens.

# **Family History Societies**

Many family history researchers benefit from joining a family history society. Newsletters, research services, specialist publications, regular meetings and other benefits are all available.

Web details for the national Federation and for societies in South Yorkshire are as follows:

Federation of Family History Societies www.ffhs.org.uk

Barnsley Family History Society www.barnsleyfhs.co.uk

Doncaster and District Family History Society www.doncasterfhs.co.uk

Rotherham Family History Society www.rotherhamfhs.co.uk

Sheffield and District Family History Society www.sheffieldfhs.org.uk

#### **Contact Details - South Yorkshire**

Barnsley Central Library (Shambles Street, Barnsley, S70 2JF)

Tel: (Archives and Local Studies Department) 01226 773950

Email: archives@barnsley.gov.uk

Website: www.barnsley.gov.uk/service/libraries/archives.asp

**Doncaster Archives** (King Edward Road, Doncaster, DN4 0NA)

Tel: 01302 859811

Email: <a href="mailto:doncaster.archives@doncaster.gov.uk">doncaster.gov.uk</a> Website: <a href="mailto:www.doncaster.gov.uk">www.doncaster.gov.uk</a>

**Doncaster Central Local Studies Library** (Central Library, Waterdale,

Doncaster, DN1 3JE) Tel: 01302 734307

Email: <a href="mailto:central.localhistory@doncaster.gov.uk">central.localhistory@doncaster.gov.uk</a> Website: <a href="mailto:www.doncaster.gov.uk">www.doncaster.gov.uk</a>

Rotherham Archives and Local Studies (Rotherham Central Library,

Walker Place, Rotherham, S65 1JH)

Tel: 01709 823616

Email: archives@rotherham.gov.uk

Website: <a href="https://www.rotherham.gov.uk">www.rotherham.gov.uk</a> (enter 'archives' in the search box)

**Sheffield Archives** (52 Shoreham Street, Sheffield, S1 4SP)

Tel: 0114 2039395

Email: archives@sheffield.gov.uk

Website: <a href="www.sheffield.gov.uk/archives">www.sheffield.gov.uk/archives</a>

Sheffield Local Studies Library (Central Library, Surrey Street,

Sheffield, S1 1XZ) Tel: 0114 2734753

Email: <u>localstudies.library@sheffield.gov.uk</u> Website: www.sheffield.gov.uk/libraries

#### **Contact Details - Other**

**Derbyshire Record Office** (Ernest Bailey Building, New Street, Matlock, Derbyshire) Postal address: Derbyshire Record Office, County Hall, Matlock, Derbyshire, DE4 3AG.

Tel: 01629 585347 (Record Office Search Room)

Email: record.office@derbyshire.gov.uk

Website: <a href="https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/leisure/record\_office/">www.derbyshire.gov.uk/leisure/record\_office/</a>

# **Lichfield Record Office** (The Friary, Lichfield, WS13 6QG)

Tel: 01543 510720

Email: <u>Lichfield.record.office@staffordshire.gov.uk</u>
Website: www.staffordshire.gov.uk/leisure/archives/

# Nottinghamshire Archives (County House, Castle Meadow Road, Nottingham,

NG2 1AG)

Tel: 0115 958 1634 archive enquiries Email: archives@nottscc.gov.uk

website: www.nottinghamshire.gov.uk/home/leisure/archives.htm

# West Yorkshire Archive Service, Wakefield Headquarters (Registry of Deeds,

Newstead Road, Wakefield, WF1 2DE)

Tel: 01924 305980

Email: wakefield@wyjs.org.uk

Website: www.archives.wyjs.org.uk/

# Yorkshire Archaeological Society (Claremont, 23, Clarendon Road, Leeds, LS2

9NZ)

Tel: 0113 245 6362 (archives) Email: <u>library@yas.org.uk</u> Website: www.yas.org.uk

#### Borthwick Institute for Archives (University of York, Heslington, York, YO10 5DD)

Tel: 01904 321166

Email: bihr500@york.ac.uk

Website: www.york.ac.uk/library/borthwick

# The National Archives (Kew, Richmond, Surrey, TW9 4DU)

Tel: 020 8876 3444

Email: via www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/contact/form

Website: http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk